
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, DC 20549

Form 10-Q

¥ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2003

or

n TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to .

Commission File Number: 0-28074

Sapient Corporation
(Exact name of registrant as speciÑed in its charter)

Delaware 04-3130648
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) IdentiÑcation No.)

One Memorial Drive, 02142
(Zip Code)Cambridge, MA

(Address of principal executive oÇces)

617-621-0200
(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

N/A
(Former name, former address and former Ñscal year, if changed since last report)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has Ñled all reports required to be Ñled by Section 13
or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period
that the registrant was required to Ñle such reports), and (2) has been subject to such Ñling requirements for
the past 90 days. ¥ Yes n No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated Ñler (as deÑned in Rule 12b-2 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934). ¥ Yes n No

As of November 11, 2003, there were 121,836,220 shares of the Company's Common Stock outstanding.



SAPIENT CORPORATION

INDEX

Page
Number

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2003 and December 31, 2002 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Three and Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2003 and 2002 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Nine Months Ended September 30,
2003 and 2002 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 18

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 39

Item 4. Controls and Procedures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 39

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 6. Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 40

Signatures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 41

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains ""forward-looking statements'' within the meaning of
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. All
statements included in this Quarterly Report, other than statements of historical facts, regarding our strategy,
future operations, Ñnancial position, estimated revenues, projected costs, prospects, plans and objectives are
forward-looking statements. When used in this Quarterly Report, the words ""will,'' ""believe,'' ""anticipate,''
""intend,'' ""estimate,'' ""expect,'' ""project'' and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking
statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain these identifying words. We cannot guarantee
future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements and you should not place undue reliance on our
forward-looking statements. Our actual results could diÅer materially from those anticipated in these forward-
looking statements as a result of various factors, including the risks described in ""Management's Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Ì Risk Factors'' and elsewhere in this
Quarterly Report. Our forward-looking statements do not reÖect the potential impact of any future
acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, joint ventures or strategic investments. In addition, any forward-looking
statements represent our expectation only as of the day this Quarterly Report was Ñrst Ñled with the SEC and
should not be relied on as representing our expectations as of any subsequent date. While we may elect to
update forward-looking statements at some point in the future, we speciÑcally disclaim any obligation to do so,
even if our expectations change.
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SAPIENT CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

September 30, December 31,
2003 2002

(Unaudited)
(In thousands, except share

amounts)

ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 76,778 $ 91,229

Marketable investments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 47,976 59,085

Restricted cashÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8,453 3,963

Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $849 and $2,246,
respectively ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 24,633 29,134

Unbilled revenues on contracts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 15,517 11,468

Income taxes receivable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 657 642

Prepaid expenses and other current assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7,503 6,724

Total current assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 181,517 202,245

Non current assets:

Marketable investments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 17,640 20,426

Restricted cashÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6,915 6,659

Property and equipment, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 15,173 24,262

Intangible assets, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,286 1,386

Other assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 575 7,675

Total assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 223,106 $ 262,653

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities:

Accounts payableÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 4,104 $ 4,005

Accrued expensesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 11,748 12,888

Accrued restructuring costs, current ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 21,772 36,466

Accrued compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8,030 7,138

Income taxes payable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,082 513

Deferred revenues on contracts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,715 5,910

Total current liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 49,451 66,920

Accrued restructuring costs, net of current portion ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 24,311 37,110

Other long term liabilitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 686 2,819

Total liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 74,448 106,849

Stockholders' equity:

Preferred stock, par value $.01 per share, 5,000,000 authorized and none outstanding
at September 30, 2003 and December 31, 2002 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì

Common stock, par value $.01 per share, 200,000,000 shares authorized, 129,385,108
and 127,648,747 shares issued at September 30, 2003 and December 31, 2002,
respectively ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,292 1,276

Additional paid-in capital ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 471,713 469,648

Treasury stock, at cost, 7,742,938 and 5,867,259 shares at September 30, 2003 and
December 31, 2002, respectively ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (9,117) (5,688)

Deferred compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,051) (2,143)

Accumulated other comprehensive incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,077 511

Accumulated deÑcitÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (315,256) (307,800)

Total stockholders' equity ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 148,658 155,804

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 223,106 $ 262,653

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SAPIENT CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2003 2002 2003 2002

(Unaudited)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenues:

Service revenuesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 44,661 $ 43,042 $132,946 $ 131,906

Reimbursable expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,265 1,893 6,966 6,615

Total gross revenuesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 46,926 44,935 139,912 138,521

Operating expenses:

Project personnel costs, before reimbursable expenses 25,059 31,189 80,955 105,409

Reimbursable expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,265 1,893 6,966 6,615

Total project personnel costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 27,324 33,082 87,921 112,024

Selling and marketing costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,328 6,532 14,303 20,337

General and administrative costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 14,442 17,333 42,194 63,027

Restructuring and other related charges (credits) ÏÏÏÏÏ 737 (4,269) 2,135 54,244

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì 107,430

Amortization of intangible assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 319 598 1,644 3,730

Stock-based compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 332 1,358 1,021 2,697

Total operating expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 47,482 54,634 149,218 363,489

Loss from operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (556) (9,699) (9,306) (224,968)

Gain on equity investment change in interestÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì 1,755

Other income (expense) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,485 (246) 1,289 (242)

Interest incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 385 975 1,491 3,388

Income (loss) before income taxes and net equity
income (loss) from investees ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,314 (8,970) (6,526) (220,067)

Income tax provision (beneÑt)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 305 174 930 (18,835)

Income (loss) before net equity income (loss) from
investees ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,009 (9,144) (7,456) (201,232)

Net equity income (loss) from investees ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 162 Ì (373)

Income (loss) from continuing operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,009 (8,982) (7,456) (201,605)

Loss from discontinued operationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (1,855) Ì (2,932)

Net income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 1,009 $(10,837) $ (7,456) $(204,537)

Basic and diluted income (loss) per share:

Continuing operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.01 $ (0.07) $ (0.06) $ (1.60)

Discontinued operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $  Ì $ (0.02) $  Ì $ (0.02)

Net income (loss) per shareÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.01 $ (0.09) $ (0.06) $ (1.62)

Weighted average common shares ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 121,182 124,614 120,961 125,960

Dilutive common share equivalents ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,868 Ì Ì Ì

Weighted average common shares and dilutive common
share equivalents ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 125,050 124,614 120,961 125,960

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SAPIENT CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2003 2002

(Unaudited)
(In thousands)

Cash Öows from operating activities:
Loss from continuing operationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (7,456) $(201,605)
Adjustments to reconcile loss from continuing operations to net cash used in operating

activities from continuing operations:
Loss recognized on write-down of investmentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 45 271
Realized gain on investments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,334) (1,784)
Depreciation and amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6,861 10,429
Amortization of intangible assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,644 3,730
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 107,430
Stock-based compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,021 2,697
Non-cash restructuring charges ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 5,754
Net equity loss from investees ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 373
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Increase in restricted cashÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (4,746) (5,312)
Decrease in accounts receivable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,501 6,885
Increase in unbilled revenues on contracts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (5,159) (150)
Increase in prepaid expenses and other current assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (779) (3,651)
Decrease in other assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,463 128
Increase (decrease) in accounts payableÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 99 (670)
(Decrease) increase in accrued expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (30) 2,570
(Decrease) increase in accrued restructuring costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (25,474) 17,235
Increase (decrease) in accrued compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 892 (1,173)
Increase in income taxes payable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 554 11,820
Decrease in deferred revenues on contracts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (3,195) (4,384)
Decrease in other long term liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (912) (682)

Net cash used in operating activities from continuing operationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (32,005) (50,089)
Net cash used in operating activities from discontinued operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (3,027)

Net cash used in operating activities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (32,005) (53,116)
Cash Öows from investing activities:

Purchases of property and equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,124) (5,269)
Investments in consolidated subsidiary ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,679) Ì
Proceeds from sale of investmentÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6,929 Ì
Long term investments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 55
Maturities of marketable investments, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 13,737 18,090

Net cash provided by investing activities from continuing operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 17,863 12,876
Net cash used in investing activities from discontinued operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (120)

Net cash provided by investing activitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 17,863 12,756
Cash Öows from Ñnancing activities:

Proceeds from stock option and purchase plans ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,771 3,380
Repurchases of common stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (3,429) (5,209)
Proceeds from sale of common stock of consolidated subsidiary ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 500 Ì

Net cash used in Ñnancing activities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,158) (1,829)

EÅect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 849 1,204
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (14,451) (40,985)
Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of periodÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 91,229 109,744

Cash and cash equivalents, at end of period ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 76,778 $ 68,759

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SAPIENT CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited consolidated Ñnancial statements have been prepared by Sapient Corpora-
tion pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission regarding interim
Ñnancial reporting. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by generally
accepted accounting principles for complete Ñnancial statements and should be read in conjunction with the
consolidated Ñnancial statements and notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2002 included in the
Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K. The accompanying consolidated Ñnancial statements reÖect all
adjustments (consisting solely of normal, recurring adjustments) which are, in the opinion of management,
necessary for a fair presentation of results for the interim periods presented. The results of operations for the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2003 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected
for any future period or the full Ñscal year.

The market for advanced technology consulting services declined signiÑcantly in 2001 and 2002, but
began to stabilize and modestly improve in the second half of 2003. The Company has seen stabilization and
some modest growth in its service revenues, beginning in the third quarter of 2002. For the Ñrst three quarters
of 2003, the Company's service revenues were $132.9 million, compared to $131.9 million for the Ñrst three
quarters of 2002. As a result of restructuring and other cost cutting actions beginning in 2001, the Company's
loss from continuing operations decreased from $201.6 million for the Ñrst three quarters of 2002 to
$7.5 million for the Ñrst three quarters of 2003, and the Company achieved net income of $1.0 million in the
third quarter of 2003. The Company's loss from continuing operations for the Ñrst three quarters of 2002
included a $107.4 million charge for the impairment of goodwill and intangible assets. The Company's cash
used in operations for the Ñrst three quarters of 2003 was $32.0 million, including $27.6 million used for
previously recorded restructuring actions, compared to $53.1 million for the Ñrst three quarters of 2002,
including $31.5 million used for previously recorded restructuring actions. The Company has accrued
restructuring costs, primarily related to vacated facilities recorded in prior years, of $46.1 million at
September 30, 2003. The Company's cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and marketable investments at
September 30, 2003 were $157.8 million. The Company believes that its existing cash, cash equivalents,
restricted cash and marketable investments will be suÇcient to meet its working capital, capital expenditure,
restructuring and stock repurchase program requirements for at least the next 12 months. However, if the
recent stabilization in the demand for the Company's services does not continue and the Company suÅers
declines in its service revenues, the Company may incur additional losses and negative cash Öows, and these
could be signiÑcant.

Certain amounts in previously issued Ñnancial statements have been reclassiÑed to conform to the current
presentation. In December 2002, the Company ceased operations in Japan. The Ñnancial statements and
Ñnancial information included in this report for 2002 reÖect the results of operations for Japan as a single line
item listed as ""Loss from discontinued operations.''

Unless the context requires otherwise, references in this Quarterly Report to ""Sapient,'' ""the Company,''
""we,'' ""us'' or ""our'' refer to Sapient Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries.
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2. Net Income (Loss) Per Share

The following information presents the Company's computation of basic and diluted income (loss) per
share for the periods presented in the consolidated statements of operations (in thousands, except per share
data):

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2003 2002 2003 2002

Income (loss) from continuing operations ÏÏÏÏÏ $ 1,009 $ (8,982) $ (7,456) $(201,605)

Loss from discontinued operationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $  Ì $ (1,855) $  Ì $ (2,932)

Net income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 1,009 $(10,837) $ (7,456) $(204,537)

Basic income (loss) per share:

Weighted average common shares
outstanding ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 121,182 124,614 120,961 125,960

Continuing operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.01 $ (0.07) $ (0.06) $ (1.60)

Discontinued operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $  Ì $ (0.02) $  Ì $ (0.02)

Basic net income (loss) per share ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.01 $ (0.09) $ (0.06) $ (1.62)

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2003 2002 2003 2002

Diluted income (loss) per share:

Weighted average common shares outstanding 121,182 124,614 120,961 125,960

Dilutive common share equivalents ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,868 Ì Ì Ì

Weighted average common shares and dilutive
common share equivalents ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 125,050 124,614 120,961 125,960

Continuing operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.01 $ (0.07) $ (0.06) $ (1.60)

Discontinued operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $  Ì $ (0.02) $  Ì $ (0.02)

Diluted net income (loss) per share ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.01 $ (0.09) $ (0.06) $ (1.62)

Options to purchase approximately 14.4 million shares of common stock were outstanding during the
three months ended September 30, 2003, but were not included in the computation of diluted net income per
share because the exercise price of the options was greater than the average market price of the Company's
common stock for this period. Options to purchase approximately 19.6 million shares of common stock were
outstanding during the nine months ended September 30, 2003, and options to purchase approximately
25.6 million and 23.5 million shares of common stock were outstanding during the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2002, respectively, but were not included in the computation of diluted net loss per share
because the Company recorded a net loss for each of these periods.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Ì (Continued)

3. Stock-Based Compensation

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (SFAS 123), ""Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation,'' requires that companies either recognize compensation expense for grants of stock options
and other equity instruments based on fair value, or provide pro forma disclosure of net income (loss) and net
income (loss) per share in the notes to the Ñnancial statements. At September 30, 2003, the Company has
nine stock-based compensation plans, which are described more fully in the Company's Annual Report on
Form 10-K. The Company accounts for awards to employees under those plans under the recognition and
measurement principles of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, ""Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees,'' and related interpretations. Accordingly, no compensation cost has been recognized under
SFAS 123 for the Company's equity compensation plans. Had compensation cost for the awards under those
plans been determined based on the grant date fair values, consistent with the method required under
SFAS 123, the Company's net income (loss) and net income (loss) per share would have been increased to
the pro forma amounts indicated below:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2003 2002 2003 2002

Net income (loss) as reported ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 1,009 $(10,837) $ (7,456) $(204,537)

Add back: Stock-based compensation, included
in net loss, net of related tax eÅects, as
reportedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 332 1,358 1,021 2,697

Deduct: Stock-based employee compensation
expense determined under fair value based
method for all awards, net of related tax
eÅects ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (6,965) (10,954) (23,730) (34,928)

Pro forma net loss ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(5,624) $(20,433) $(30,165) $(236,768)

Basic net income (loss) per share

As reported ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.01 $ (0.09) $ (0.06) $ (1.62)

Pro forma ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (0.05) $ (0.16) $ (0.25) $ (1.88)

Diluted net income (loss) per share

As reported ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.01 $ (0.09) $ (0.06) $ (1.62)

Pro forma ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (0.05) $ (0.16) $ (0.25) $ (1.88)

4. Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 130, ""Reporting Comprehensive Income''
(SFAS 130), establishes standards for reporting comprehensive income (loss). Comprehensive income (loss)
includes net income (loss) as currently reported under generally accepted accounting principles, and also
considers the eÅect of additional economic events that are not required to be recorded in determining net
income (loss) but rather are reported as a separate component of stockholders' equity. The Company reports
foreign currency translation gains and losses and unrealized gains and losses on investments as components of
comprehensive income (loss). Comprehensive income was $1.4 million for the third quarter of 2003 and
comprehensive loss was $10.6 million for the third quarter of 2002. Comprehensive loss was $6.9 million and
$204.2 million for the Ñrst three quarters of 2003 and 2002, respectively.

5. Contingent Liabilities

The Company has certain contingent liabilities that arise in the ordinary course of its business activities.
The Company accrues contingent liabilities when it is probable that future expenditures will be made and such
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Ì (Continued)

expenditures can be reasonably estimated. The Company is subject to various legal claims totaling
approximately $2.5 million and various administrative audits, each of which have arisen in the ordinary course
of its business. The Company has an accrual at September 30, 2003 of approximately $192,000 related to
certain of these items. The Company intends to defend these matters vigorously, although the ultimate
outcome of these items is uncertain and the potential loss, if any, may be signiÑcantly higher or lower than
amounts previously accrued by the Company.

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. (FIN) 45, ""Guarantor's Accounting and
Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others, an
interpretation of FASB Statements No. 5, 57, and 107 and Rescission of FASB Interpretation No. 34.''
FIN 45 elaborates on the existing disclosure requirements for most guarantees, including loan guarantees such
as standby letters of credit and warranty obligations. It also clariÑes that at the time a company issues a
guarantee, a company must recognize an initial liability for the fair value of the obligations it assumes under
that guarantee and must disclose that information in its interim and annual Ñnancial statements. The
disclosure requirements of FIN 45 are discussed below.

As permitted under Delaware law, the Company's Amended and Restated CertiÑcate of Incorporation
provides that the Company will indemnify its oÇcers and Directors for certain claims asserted against them in
connection with their service as an oÇcer or Director of the Company. The maximum potential amount of
future payments that the Company could be required to make under these indemniÑcation provisions is
unlimited. However, the Company has purchased certain Directors' and OÇcers' insurance policies that
reduce its monetary exposure and enable it to recover a portion of any future amounts paid. As a result of the
Company's insurance coverage, the Company believes the estimated fair value of these indemniÑcation
arrangements is minimal.

The Company frequently has agreed to indemniÑcation provisions in professional services agreements
with its clients and in its real estate leases in the ordinary course of its business. Pursuant to these provisions,
the Company indemniÑes the indemniÑed party for certain losses suÅered or incurred by the indemniÑed
party. With respect to the Company's professional services agreements, these indemniÑcation provisions
typically apply to any claim asserted against its client for infringement of intellectual property rights, but may
also include claims asserted against its client relating to personal injury or property damage, violations of law
or certain breaches of the Company's contractual obligations. With respect to lease agreements, these
indemniÑcation provisions typically apply to claims asserted against the landlord relating to personal injury
and property damage caused by the Company, violations of law or certain breaches of the Company's
contractual obligations. In each case, the term of these indemniÑcation provisions generally survives the
termination of the agreement, although the provision has the most relevance during the contract term and for
a short period of time thereafter. The maximum potential amount of future payments that the Company could
be required to make under these indemniÑcation provisions is unlimited, although in many cases the
Company's liability for indemniÑcation is limited to a speciÑc dollar amount in the applicable contract. The
Company also has purchased insurance policies covering professional errors and omissions, property damage
and general liability that reduce its monetary exposure for indemniÑcation and enable it to recover a portion of
any future amounts paid. The Company has not paid any material amounts to defend lawsuits or settle claims
related to these indemniÑcation provisions. Accordingly, the Company believes the estimated fair value of
these indemniÑcation arrangements is minimal.

The Company frequently warrants that the technology solutions it develops for its clients will operate in
accordance with the project speciÑcations without defects for a speciÑed warranty period, subject to certain
limitations that the Company believes are standard in the industry. In the event that defects are discovered
during the warranty period, and none of the limitations apply, the Company is obligated to remedy the defects
until the solution that the Company provided operates within the project speciÑcations. The Company is not
typically obligated by contract to provide its clients with any refunds of the fees they have paid, although a
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small number of its contracts provide for the payment of liquidated damages upon default. The Company has
purchased insurance policies covering professional errors and omissions, property damage and general liability
that reduce its monetary exposure for warranty-related claims and enable it to recover a portion of any future
amounts paid. The Company typically provides in its contracts for testing and client acceptance procedures
that are designed to mitigate the likelihood of warranty-related claims, although there can be no assurance
that such procedures will be eÅective for each project. The Company has not paid any material amounts with
respect to the warranties for its solutions, although the Company sometimes commits unanticipated levels of
eÅort to projects to remedy defects covered by its warranties. Deferred revenues on contracts related to
warranties are immaterial as of September 30, 2003 and December 31, 2002.

6. Restructuring and Other Related Charges

As a result of the decline in the demand for advanced technology consulting services that began in the
second half of 2000, the Company implemented restructurings of its workforce and operations beginning in
2001. In the third quarter of 2003, the Company recorded restructuring and other related charges of
approximately $0.7 million, primarily due to decreases in its estimated sub-lease income in connection with
the restructuring plans previously announced.

In connection with the restructuring plan implemented in the second quarter of 2003, the Company
recorded restructuring and other related charges of approximately $1.4 million. This restructuring action
resulted in the termination of 40 employees. This restructuring action was due to the skill sets of certain
employees not matching the Company's current business requirements and due to a signiÑcant decline in the
demand for the Company's services in its Financial Services business unit through the second quarter of 2003.

In connection with the restructuring plans implemented in 2002, the Company recorded restructuring and
other related charges of approximately $66.9 million during 2002, of which $54.2 million was recorded in the
Ñrst nine months of 2002. The 2002 restructuring plans resulted in the termination of 863 employees. The
restructuring plans also included discontinuing operations in Japan, closing oÇces in Houston and Denver and
consolidating oÇce space in other cities where the Company had excess oÇce space. Restructuring charges of
$662,000 related to the Company's Japan subsidiary was reported in the Company's loss from discontinued
operations for 2002. Estimated costs for the consolidation of facilities are composed of contractual rental
commitments for oÇce space vacated and related costs, brokerage and related costs to sublet the oÇce space,
leasehold improvement write-downs, oÅset by estimated sub-lease income. The total reduction of oÇce space
resulting from these oÇce closings and consolidations was approximately 391,000 square feet.

These restructuring charges and accruals require signiÑcant estimates and assumptions, including sub-
lease income assumptions. The consolidation of facilities required the Company to make estimates, which
included contractual rental commitments or lease buy-outs for oÇce space being vacated and related costs,
leasehold improvement write-downs, oÅset by estimated sub-lease income. The Company's sub-lease
assumptions include anticipated rates to be charged to a sub-tenant and the timing of the sub-lease
arrangement. These estimates and assumptions are monitored on at least a quarterly basis for changes in
circumstances. It is reasonably possible that such estimates could change in the future, resulting in additional
adjustments and these adjustments could be material.
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Accruals for restructuring and other related activities as of, and for, the nine months ended Septem-
ber 30, 2003 and 2002 were as follows (in thousands):

UtilizedBalance Additional Additional Balance
12/31/02 Charge-Q2 Charge-Q3 Non-Cash Cash 9/30/03

Workforce ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 5,133 $1,612 $(40) $ (16) $ (6,337) $ 352

FacilitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 68,443 (214) 777 (2,003) (21,272) 45,731

$73,576 $1,398 $737 $(2,019) $(27,609) $46,083

Current accrued restructuring costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏ 21,772

Non-current accrued restructuring costsÏÏÏ $24,311

UtilizedBalance Additional Additional Additional Balance
12/31/01 Charge-Q1 Charge-Q2 Charge-Q3 Non-Cash Cash 9/30/02

Workforce ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 1,635 $12,967 $3,100 $ (533) $ Ì $(16,029) $ 1,140

Facilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 51,705 34,981 6,153 (3,736) (2,495) (15,519) 71,089

Depreciable assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 787 525 Ì (1,312) Ì Ì

$53,340 $48,735 $9,778 $(4,269) $(3,807) $(31,548) $72,229

Current accrued restructuring
costsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 29,685

Non-current accrued
restructuring costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $42,544

The remaining accrued restructuring costs are $46.1 million at September 30, 2003, of which the cash
portion is $42.2 million. The cash outlay over the next 12-month period is expected to be $19.8 million.

7. Income Taxes

The Company has deferred tax assets which have arisen primarily as a result of net operating losses
incurred in 2001 and 2002 and the Ñrst two quarters of 2003, as well as other temporary diÅerences between
book and tax accounting. Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, ""Accounting for Income
Taxes,'' requires the establishment of a valuation allowance to reÖect the likelihood of realization of deferred
tax assets. SigniÑcant management judgment is required in determining the Company's provision for income
taxes, its deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded against the net deferred tax
assets. As a result of net operating losses and uncertainty as to the extent and timing of proÑtability in future
periods, the Company recorded additional valuation allowances of $2.4 million and $4.9 million for the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2003, respectively, resulting in a full valuation allowance of
approximately $120.7 million on deferred tax assets as of September 30, 2003. For the Ñrst three quarters of
2003, the Company recorded an income tax provision of approximately $930,000 primarily related to foreign
and state tax obligations. The Company recorded an income tax beneÑt of approximately $18.8 million for the
Ñrst three quarters of 2002, of which $17.2 million related to the enactment of ""The Job Creation and Worker
Assistance Act of 2002'' enacted March 9, 2002, which allowed the Company to carry back its tax net
operating loss for U.S. federal purposes for an additional three years. The Company's eÅective tax rate may
vary from period to period based on changes in estimated taxable income or loss, changes to the valuation
allowance, changes to federal, state or foreign tax laws, future expansion into areas with varying country, state,
and local income tax rates, deductibility of certain costs and expenses by jurisdiction and as a result of
acquisitions.
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8. Related Party Transactions

On July 2, 2003, the Company reached an agreement with the management team of Sapient S.p.A., the
Company's joint venture in Milan, Italy, pursuant to which the management team acquired all of the shares of
Sapient S.p.A. from the shareholders of the joint venture. As a result, the Company no longer holds a 50%
ownership interest in the voting shares of Sapient S.p.A. and the joint venture agreement has been terminated.
The management team is the exclusive licensee of Sapient's intellectual property in Italy and the Company is
entitled to a royalty equal to 2% of the annual revenue of Sapient S.p.A. beginning July 2, 2005. The Company
also has an option to purchase 100% of the ownership of Sapient S.p.A., based on a formula which estimates
fair value, among other rights. The option is exercisable from July 2007 through July 2010.

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2002, the Company recognized approximately $0
and $204,000, respectively, in net revenues from consulting services provided to Sapient S.p.A. In addition to
recognizing revenue for services provided to Sapient S.p.A., the Company reduced its general and administra-
tive expenses by approximately $11,000 and $119,000 for start-up and administrative services billed to the
joint venture for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2002. No amounts were recognized as
revenue or reductions to general and administrative expenses for the Ñrst three quarters of 2003. The Company
had no material receivables or payables outstanding with this entity at September 30, 2003 and December 31,
2002.

9. Segment Information

The Company is engaged in business activities which involve the provision of business and technology
consulting services, primarily on a Ñxed-price basis. The Company has discrete Ñnancial data by operating
segments available based on the Company's method of internal reporting, which disaggregates its operations
on a business unit basis for its United States operations and on a geographic basis for its international
operations. Operating segments are deÑned as components of the Company concerning which separate
Ñnancial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker. Manage-
ment uses this information to manage resources and evaluate performance.

The Company does not allocate certain selling and marketing and general and administrative expenses to
its business unit segments in the United States, as these activities are managed separately from the business
units. The Company did not allocate the costs associated with the 2002 restructuring plans across its operating
segments for internal measurement purposes, given that the majority of the restructuring costs represented
consolidation of facilities. The Company did allocate the costs associated with the restructuring activity in the
second quarter of 2003 across its operating segments, due to the speciÑc identiÑcation of terminated
employees to their respective individual operating segment. The Company did not allocate the restructuring
and other related charges recorded in the third quarter of 2003 across its operating segments as these charges
resulted primarily from changes in estimated sub-lease income in connection with restructuring plans
announced in 2001 and 2002. Asset information by operating segment is not reported to or reviewed by the
chief operating decision maker, therefore, the Company has not disclosed asset information for each operating
segment.

11



SAPIENT CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Ì (Continued)

The tables below present the service revenues and operating income (loss) attributable to these operating
segments for the periods presented in the consolidated statements of operations (in thousands).

For the Three Months Ended September 30, 2003 and 2002:

For the Three
Months Ended Financial Public Automotive/ Consumer/ Technology/ United
September 30, 2003  Services Services Industrial Transportation Communications Kingdom Germany Sub-Total

Service
revenues ÏÏÏÏ $4,461 $7,334 $3,986 $1,964 $4,611 $12,392 $3,897 $38,645

Operating
income (loss) $2,292(1) $1,745(1) $1,150(1) $ 549(1) $1,602(1) $ 409 $ 328 $ 8,075(1)

Sub-Total All Reconciling Consolidated
Reportable Segments Other Items Totals

Service revenuesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $38,645 $6,016 $ Ì $44,661

Operating income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 8,075(1) $2,532(1) $(9,293)(2) $ 1,314(2)

For the Three
Months Ended Financial Public Automotive/ Consumer/ Technology/ United
September 30, 2002 Services Services Industrial Transportation Communications Kingdom Germany Sub-Total

Service
revenues ÏÏÏÏ $7,718 $6,549 $3,691 $3,464 $4,560 $ 8,790 $2,796 $37,568

Operating
income (loss) $ 27(1) $ (30)(1) $1,033(1) $ 190(1) $ 52(1) $(1,266) $ (826) $ (820)(1)

Sub-Total All Reconciling Consolidated
Reportable Segments Other Items Totals

Service revenuesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $37,568 $5,474 $ Ì $43,042

Operating income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (820)(1) $2,228(1) $(10,378)(2) $(8,970)(2)

For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2003 and 2002:

For the Nine
Months Ended Financial Public Automotive/ Consumer/ Technology/ United
September 30, 2003 Services Services Industrial Transportation Communications Kingdom Germany Sub-Total

Service revenues ÏÏ $13,737 $20,314 $11,332 $7,350 $16,220 $37,969 $10,370 $117,292

Operating
income (loss) ÏÏ $ 4,756(1) $ 4,749(1) $ 3,562(1) $1,768(1) $ 3,870(1) $(2,557) $ 861 $ 17,009(1)

Sub-Total All Reconciling Consolidated
Reportable Segments Other Items Totals

Service revenuesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $117,292 $15,654 $ Ì $132,946

Operating income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 17,009(1) $ 5,634(1) $(29,169)(2) $ (6,526)(2)

For the Nine
Months Ended Financial Public Automotive/ Consumer/ Technology/ United
September 30, 2002 Services Services Industrial Transportation Communications Kingdom Germany Sub-Total

Service revenues ÏÏÏÏ $34,170 $15,981 $11,410 $9,491 $10,850 $26,628 $ 8,579 $117,109

Operating
income (loss) ÏÏÏÏ $ 3,531(1) $(3,160)(1) $ 2,262(1) $ 584(1) $(2,258)(1) $(2,614) $(2,868) $ (4,523)(1)

12



SAPIENT CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Ì (Continued)

Sub-Total All Reconciling Consolidated
Reportable Segments Other Items Totals

Service revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $117,109 $14,797 $ Ì $ 131,906

Operating income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (4,523)(1) $ 1,215(1) $(216,759)(2) $(220,067)(2)

(1) The business unit segment operating income (loss) reÖects only the direct controllable expenses of each
business unit segment. For the Company's United States business units, it does not represent the total
operating results for each such business unit, because it does not contain an allocation of certain corporate
and general and administrative expenses incurred in support of the business unit segments.

(2) Represents consolidated income (loss) before income taxes and net equity income (loss) from investees.
Adjustments that are made to the total of the segments' operating income (loss) in order to arrive at
consolidated income (loss) before income taxes and net equity income (loss) from investees include the
following:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2003 2002 2003 2002

Unallocated restructuring and other
related charges ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 737 $(4,269) $ 737 $ 54,244

Impairment of goodwill and
intangible assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì 107,430

Amortization of intangible assets ÏÏÏ 319 598 1,644 3,730

Stock-based compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 332 1,358 1,021 2,697

Other (income) expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,485) 246 (1,289) (1,513)

Interest incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (385) (975) (1,491) (3,388)

Unallocated expensesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9,775(3) 13,420(3) 28,547(3) 53,559(3)

$ 9,293 $10,378 $29,169 $216,759

(3) Includes corporate selling and marketing and general and administrative costs.

10. Geographic Data

Data for the geographic regions in which the Company operates is presented below for the periods
presented in the consolidated statements of operations and the consolidated balance sheets (in thousands):

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2003 2002 2003 2002

Service revenues:

United States ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $26,530 $28,617 $ 79,558 $ 90,849

International ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 18,131 14,425 53,388 41,057

Total service revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $44,661 $43,042 $132,946 $131,906
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September 30, December 31,
2003 2002

Long-lived assets:

United States ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 9,959 $16,862

International ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6,500 8,786

Total long-lived assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $16,459 $25,648

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2003, Sapient Limited, the Company's UK
subsidiary, had revenues of $12.4 million and $38.0 million, respectively, or 68% and 71%, respectively, of total
international revenues.

11. Investment in Consolidated Subsidiary

On January 24, 2003, the Company increased its ownership percentage in HWT, Inc. (HWT) to 69% by
purchasing a total of 587,092 shares of HWT common stock from Jerry A. Greenberg and J. Stuart Moore, its
Co-Chairmen and Co-CEOs, for a total purchase price of $557,737, in cash. The purchase price per share paid
to Messrs. Greenberg and Moore was $0.95, which represented a substantial loss from their cost basis per
share of $5.00. Messrs. Greenberg and Moore are no longer shareholders of HWT. The Company also
commenced a tender oÅer on January 24, 2003 to purchase the remaining shares of HWT, for $1.05 per share,
in cash. The tender oÅer period expired on February 24, 2003. As a result of the tender oÅer, the Company
purchased a total of 927,395 shares of HWT common stock, for a total purchase price of $973,765, and the
Company's ownership percentage in HWT increased from 69% to 85%. The purchase price was allocated
primarily to customer contracts and developed technology, which are included in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheet under the caption ""Intangible assets, net.'' These assets will be amortized on a
straight line basis over lives of 3 years.

On March 21, 2003, HWT issued 526,190 shares of its common stock to an executive oÇcer of HWT in
connection with the executive's initial employment with HWT. Of these 526,190 shares, 50,000 were issued as
restricted stock under the executive's employment agreement, and the remaining shares were purchased by the
executive for $1.05 per share in cash. The restricted shares vest ratably over a period of four years. The stock-
based compensation charge for the restricted stock award will be approximately $3,300 per quarter for the next
14 quarters. The Company's ownership percentage in HWT was reduced to 79.5% as a result of the March
2003 issuance. The Company recorded a gain of $365,000, as a result of the change in equity interest resulting
from the stock issuance to the executive. The Company accounted for this gain as a component of
stockholders' equity due to losses incurred by HWT since inception.

12. Goodwill

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, ""Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets'' (SFAS 142), beginning
January 1, 2002, the Company ceased amortization of goodwill, which was approximately $101.8 million at
that time. The Company performed an impairment review of its goodwill as of January 1, 2002, under the
transitional provisions of SFAS 142. The Company identiÑed its reporting units, allocated assets and liabilities
to the reporting units and performed impairment tests on the goodwill associated with each of the reporting
units by comparing the reporting units' book value to their estimated fair value. Assets and liabilities,
including goodwill, were allocated to reporting units based on factors such as speciÑc identiÑcation, percentage
of revenue and headcount. The fair value of the reporting units was estimated considering a market multiple of
revenue approach. During the second quarter of 2002, the Company completed the transitional impairment
test of goodwill and concluded that no impairment of the goodwill had occurred as of January 1, 2002. By
June 30, 2002, the Company's stock price declined signiÑcantly from January 1, 2002, at which point the
Company's market capitalization, based on the Company's stock price, was below its book value, and it was
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determined that an interim goodwill impairment test should be performed. The Company's stock price at
January 2, 2002 was $7.25 per share and declined to $1.06 per share at June 28, 2002. Based on the analysis at
June 30, 2002, the carrying amount of all reporting units exceeded their fair values and a goodwill impairment
charge of $101.8 million, representing 100% of the goodwill balance, was recognized in the statement of
operations under the caption, ""Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets,'' for the nine months ended
September 30, 2002.

13. Intangible Assets

The following is a summary of intangible assets as of September 30, 2003 and December 31, 2002 (in
thousands):

September 30, 2003

Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Book
Amount Amortization Value

Amortizable intangible assets

Marketing assets and customer lists ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 2,620 $ (2,587) $ 33

Employment agreementsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,000 (1,000) 0

Customer contracts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,439 (240) 1,199

Developed technology ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12,110 (12,056) 54

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $17,169 $(15,883) $1,286

December 31, 2002

Gross Carrying Accumulated Impairment Net Book
Amount Amortization Charge Value

Amortizable intangible assets

Marketing assets and customer listsÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 4,100 $ (2,481) $(1,519) $ 100

Employment agreements ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,000 (778) Ì 222

Customer contracts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì

Developed technology ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 16,160 (10,980) (4,116) 1,064

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $21,260 $(14,239) $(5,635) $1,386

Amortization expense related to the intangible assets was $319,000 and $598,000 for the third quarter of
2003 and 2002, respectively, and $1.6 million and $3.7 million for the Ñrst three quarters of 2003 and 2002,
respectively. Amortization expense related to intangible assets is expected to be $129,000 for the fourth
quarter of 2003 and $515,000, $515,000 and $128,000 for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006,
respectively.

14. Discontinued Operations

On October 25, 2002, as a result of the decline in the demand for advanced technology consulting services
in Japan and the resulting declines in Sapient KK's service revenues, the Company announced that it would
discontinue its Sapient KK operations in Japan. In December 2002, Sapient KK ceased its operating activities
and the Japan oÇce was closed.

In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 144, ""Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,'' which was adopted by the Company on January 1, 2002, the
results of operations of a component of an entity that either have been disposed of or are classiÑed as held for
sale shall be reported in discontinued operations if both of the following conditions are met: (a) the operations
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and cash Öows of the component have been (or will be) eliminated from the ongoing operations of the entity
as a result of the disposal transaction; and (b) the entity will not have any signiÑcant continuing involvement
in the operations of the component after the disposal transaction. A component of an entity that will be
abandoned through the liquidation or run-oÅ of operations shall be classiÑed as discontinued operations when
operations cease. SFAS 144 supersedes the accounting and reporting provisions of APB Opinion No. 30
(APB 30), ""Reporting the EÅects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and
Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions,'' for the disposal of a segment of a business. SFAS 144
retains the basic provisions of APB 30 for the presentation of discontinued operations in the statement of
operations but broadens that presentation to include a component of an entity (rather than a segment of a
business). A component of an entity comprises operations and cash Öows that can be clearly distinguished,
operationally and for Ñnancial reporting purposes, from the rest of the entity. Prior to the adoption of
SFAS 144 in 2002, under the rules of APB 30, the Company would not have classiÑed Japan as discontinued
operations.

Japan's operating results for 2002 have been collapsed and reclassiÑed into a single line item under the
caption ""Loss from discontinued operations.'' The table below presents the carrying amount of Sapient KK's
assets and liabilities, which are included in the Company's consolidated balance sheets at September 30, 2003
and December 31, 2002 (in thousands):

September 30, December 31,
2003 2002

Assets:

Current assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $Ì $ 447

Other assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 1,061

Total assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 1,508

Liabilities:

Current liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 167

Net assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $Ì $1,341

The table below presents service revenues and pre-tax loss from discontinued operations for the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2002 (in thousands):

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2002 September 30, 2002

Service revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 558 $ 2,197

Pre-tax loss from discontinued operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(1,855) $(2,932)

15. New Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 46 (FIN 46), ""Consolidation of Variable
Interest Entities.'' FIN 46 requires certain variable interest entities to be consolidated by the primary
beneÑciary of the entity if the equity investors in the entity do not have the characteristics of a controlling
Ñnancial interest or do not have suÇcient equity at risk for the entity to Ñnance its activities without additional
subordinated Ñnancial support from other parties. FIN 46 is required to be applied to preexisting entities of the
Company for the Ñrst reporting period after December 15, 2003. FIN 46 is required to be applied to all new
entities with which the Company becomes involved beginning February 1, 2003. The Company adopted
FIN 46 in the third quarter of 2003. The adoption of FIN 46 did not have a signiÑcant impact on the
Company. Due to the dissolution of the Company's Italian joint venture on July 2, 2003, the Company does
not currently have any variable interest entities.
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In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150 (SFAS 150), ""Accounting for Certain Financial
Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity.'' SFAS 150 requires that certain Ñnancial
instruments that, under previous guidance, could be accounted for as equity be classiÑed as a liability in the
balance sheet. For public companies, the statement is eÅective immediately for Ñnancial instruments entered
into or modiÑed after May 31, 2003 and is otherwise eÅective at the beginning of the Ñrst interim period
beginning after June 15, 2003. The Company adopted SFAS 150 in the third quarter of 2003. The adoption of
SFAS 150 did not have any impact on the Company.

16. Restatement of Quarterly Financial Statements

The Company has restated its consolidated Ñnancial statements for the Ñrst and second quarters of 2003
and the Ñrst six months of 2003 to correct the amount of interest income recorded in these periods. These
corrections were required because the Company inadvertently did not amortize premiums paid for some of the
bonds in its marketable investment portfolio. The Company has Ñled amendments to its Quarterly Reports on
Form 10-Q for the Ñrst and second quarters of 2003 to reÖect these corrections. For the Ñrst quarter of 2003,
the Company reduced its interest income by $337,000, including $170,000 relating to the year ended
December 31, 2002. The amount related to 2002 was not material to the Ñnancial results of 2002 or the
anticipated Ñnancial results for 2003 and, therefore, has been included in the adjustment for the Ñrst quarter of
2003. For the second quarter of 2003, the Company reduced its interest income by $188,000. The restatements
do not materially impact any items on the Company's consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2003 and
June 30, 2003. The eÅect of these restatements is reÖected in the results of operations for the Ñrst nine months
of 2003.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

Sapient is a leading business consulting and technology services Ñrm that plans, designs, implements and
manages information technology to improve business performance for Global 2000 clients. Sapient was
founded in 1991 based on a single promise Ì to deliver the right business results on time and on budget. Our
Ñxed-price/Ñxed-time model, combined with our industry, design, technology and process expertise, provides
clients with the highest business value at the lowest total cost of ownership. Our integrated delivery centers are
located across the United States and in Canada, the United Kingdom, Germany and India.

The market for advanced technology consulting services declined signiÑcantly in 2001 and 2002, but
began to stabilize and modestly improve in the second half of 2003. We have seen stabilization and some
modest growth in our service revenues, beginning in the third quarter of 2002. For the Ñrst three quarters of
2003, our service revenues were $132.9 million, compared to $131.9 million for the comparative period of
2002. As a result of restructuring and other cost cutting actions beginning in 2001, our loss from continuing
operations decreased from $201.6 million for the Ñrst three quarters of 2002 to $7.5 million for the
comparative period of 2003, and we achieved net income of $1.0 million in the third quarter of 2003. Our loss
from continuing operations for the Ñrst three quarters of 2002 included a $107.4 million charge for the
impairment of goodwill and intangible assets. Our cash used in operations for the Ñrst three quarters of 2003
was $32.0 million, including $27.6 million used for previously recorded restructuring actions, compared to
$53.1 million for the Ñrst three quarters of 2002, including $31.5 million used for previously recorded
restructuring actions. We have accrued restructuring costs, primarily related to vacated facilities recorded in
prior years, of $46.1 million at September 30, 2003. Our cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and marketable
investments at September 30, 2003 were $157.8 million. We believe that our existing cash, cash equivalents,
restricted cash and marketable investments will be suÇcient to meet our working capital, capital expenditure,
restructuring and stock repurchase program requirements for at least the next 12 months. However, if the
recent stabilization in the demand for our services does not continue and we suÅer declines in our service
revenues, we may incur additional losses and negative cash Öows, and these could be signiÑcant.

We have begun to see modest growth in the demand for our services and improvement in our pipeline of
potential business. Our service revenues for the third quarter of 2003 increased 1% from the second quarter of
2003, which increased 1% from the Ñrst quarter of 2003. Our annualized service revenues per billable
employee were $149,000 for the third quarter of 2003, compared to $151,000 for the Ñrst and second quarters
of 2003. Our utilization rate for the third quarter of 2003 was 73%, compared to 73% and 70% for the Ñrst and
second quarters of 2003, respectively. We are focused on increasing recurring revenues as a percentage of total
revenues. Recurring revenues include application management services, which grew 28% from the second
quarter of 2003 to the third quarter of 2003, and represented 16% of total service revenues in the third quarter
of 2003. We expect that application management services will continue to grow, but at a lower rate on a long-
term basis. On October 23, 2003, in a conference call announcing our Ñnancial results for the third quarter of
2003, we estimated that our service revenues for the fourth quarter of 2003 would be in the range of $46.0 to
$48.0 million, based on our then-current revenue projections.

As a result of the modest growth in the demand for our services, we expect to increase the number of our
project personnel in order to maintain eÅective staÇng levels. In addition, we are working to reduce our
turnover from its current level of 23% to our target level of 15% or below, which will further our eÅorts to
achieve the desired staÇng mix. Currently, we are retaining subcontractors in certain cases to Ñll speciÑc
project needs, but we expect this practice to decline over time as we hire and train new project personnel. If we
are not successful in maintaining eÅective staÇng levels, our ability to achieve our service revenue and
proÑtability objectives may be adversely aÅected.

Throughout 2002 and to date in 2003, we also achieved continual reductions in our project personnel
costs (before reimbursable expenses), selling and marketing costs and general and administrative costs. The
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total of our project personnel costs (before reimbursable expenses), selling and marketing costs and general
and administrative costs declined from $47.1 million for the Ñrst quarter of 2003 to $46.6 million and
$43.8 million for the second and third quarters of 2003, respectively. These costs declined signiÑcantly from
the third quarter of 2002, during which period they were $55.0 million. On October 23, 2003, in a conference
call announcing our Ñnancial results for the third quarter of 2003, we estimated that these costs for the fourth
quarter of 2003 would be in the range of $45.0 to $47.0 million, based on our then-current cost projections.

Although we are seeing signs of modest growth in our business, the economic outlook is still uncertain.
We believe that technology spending by large companies demonstrated signs of improvement in the third
quarter of 2003, however, we cannot predict when the market for technology consulting services will
signiÑcantly improve. When the market does improve signiÑcantly, we cannot predict whether, and to what
extent, the demand for our services will increase. Any decline in our service revenues will have a signiÑcant
impact on our Ñnancial results, particularly because a signiÑcant portion of our operating costs (such as
personnel, rent and depreciation) are Ñxed in advance of a particular quarter. As a result, despite cost savings
realized from our restructuring plans, our costs for project personnel, sales and marketing and general and
administrative could increase as a percentage of revenues, thereby aÅecting our operating results.

Our Globally Distributed DeliverySM (GDD) methodology continues to increase in importance. We
created this proprietary methodology in 2000, which allows us to provide high-quality solutions using
accelerated 24-hour work schedules, by utilizing India's highly skilled technology specialists, lower costs and
the time diÅerences between India and the countries we serve. We also employ our GDD methodology to
provide application management services. The billable days, or level of eÅort, incurred by our India people as a
percentage of total company billable days increased from 49% for the Ñrst quarter of 2003 to 53% for the
second and third quarters of 2003. For the third quarter of 2003, projects with a GDD component accounted
for 54% of our total service revenues, which has increased from 51% and 50% for the Ñrst and second quarters
of 2003, respectively. Our utilization rate for our India people was 80% for the third quarter of 2003, as
compared to 84% and 78% for the Ñrst and second quarters of 2003, respectively.

Our future revenues and operating results may also Öuctuate from quarter to quarter based on the
number, size and scope of projects in which we are engaged, the contractual terms and degree of completion of
such projects, any delays incurred in connection with a project, employee utilization rates, the adequacy of
provisions for losses, the use of estimates of resources required to complete ongoing projects, general economic
conditions and other factors. In addition, revenues from a large project or client may constitute a signiÑcant
portion of our total revenues in a particular quarter.

Summary of Critical Accounting Policies; SigniÑcant Judgments and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our Ñnancial condition and results of operations are based upon our
consolidated Ñnancial statements. The accompanying unaudited consolidated Ñnancial statements have been
prepared by us pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission regarding
interim Ñnancial reporting. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by
generally accepted accounting principles for complete Ñnancial statements and should be read in conjunction
with the consolidated Ñnancial statements and notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2002 included in
our Annual Report on Form 10-K. The preparation of these Ñnancial statements requires us to make
signiÑcant estimates and judgments that aÅect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. These items are regularly monitored and
analyzed by management for changes in facts and circumstances, and material changes in these estimates
could occur in the future. Changes in estimates are recorded in the period in which they become known. We
base our estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable
under the circumstances. Actual results may diÅer from our estimates if past experience or other assumptions
do not turn out to be substantially accurate.
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A summary of those accounting policies that we believe are most critical to fully understanding and
evaluating our Ñnancial results is set forth below.

‚ Revenue Recognition and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. We recognize all of our revenue from
the provision of professional services under written service contracts with our clients. We derive a
signiÑcant portion of our revenue from Ñxed-price, Ñxed-time contracts. Revenue generated from Ñxed-
price contracts, with the exception of application management service contracts, is recognized based on
the ratio of labor hours incurred to estimated total labor hours. This method is used since reasonably
dependable estimates of the revenues and costs applicable to various stages of a contract can be made,
based on historical experience and milestones set in the contract. Revenue generated from Ñxed-price
application management service contracts is recognized ratably over the contract term. Revenue from
time-and-materials contracts is recognized as services are provided. Our project delivery and business
unit Ñnance personnel continually review labor hours incurred and estimated total labor hours, resulting
in revisions to the amount of recognized revenue for a contract. Certain contracts provide for revenue
to be earned based upon the achievement of certain business results. Revenue is recognized when such
business results are achieved, including $847,000 of revenue recognized in the Ñrst three quarters of
2003.

Revenue from multiple element arrangements is accounted for under EITF Issue No. 00-21
(EITF 00-21), ""Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.'' For these arrangements, we
evaluate all deliverables in the contract to determine whether they represent separate units of
accounting. We then measure and allocate the consideration from the arrangement to the separate
units of accounting, if applicable. This evaluation is performed at the inception of the arrangement and
as each item in the arrangement is delivered, and involves signiÑcant judgments regarding the nature of
the services and deliverables being provided and whether these services and deliverables can reasonably
be divided into the separate units of accounting. In the second quarter of 2003, we entered into a
preferred partnership with a client for a three-year period. We performed a detailed assessment of the
contract terms and deliverables and we determined that the multiple deliverables could not be
separated into individual units of accounting. We concluded that revenue should be recognized on a
straight line basis over the term of the contract.

If we do not accurately estimate the resources required or the scope of work to be performed for a
contract or we do not manage the project properly within the planned time period, then we may
recognize a loss on the contract. Provisions for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are made on
a contract-by-contract basis and are recognized in the period in which such losses are determined. We
have been required to commit unanticipated additional resources to complete projects in the past,
which has resulted in lower than anticipated proÑtability or losses on those contracts. We expect that
we will experience similar situations in the future. In addition, we may Ñx the price for some projects at
an early stage of the process, which could result in a Ñxed price that turns out to be too low and could
cause us to realize a lower than anticipated proÑtability or suÅer a loss on those projects.

We recognize revenue for services only in those situations where collection from the client is probable.
We establish billing terms at the time project deliverables and milestones are agreed. Our normal
payment terms are 30 days from invoice date. Earnings recognized in excess of the amounts invoiced to
clients are classiÑed as unbilled revenues. Amounts invoiced to clients in excess of revenue recognized
are classiÑed as deferred revenues. Our project delivery and business unit Ñnance personnel continu-
ously monitor timely payments from our clients and assess any collection issues. We maintain
allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of our clients to make
required payments. We base our estimates on our historical collection and write-oÅ experience, current
trends, credit policy, detailed analysis of speciÑc client situations and percentage of our accounts
receivable by aging category. While such credit losses have historically been within our expectations
and the allowances we established, we cannot guarantee that we will continue to experience the same
credit loss rates that we have in the past. If the Ñnancial condition of our clients were to deteriorate,
resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payment, additional allowances may be required.
Our failure to accurately estimate the losses for doubtful accounts and ensure that payments are
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received on a timely basis could result in lower than anticipated proÑtability or losses on those contracts
aÅected by client payment issues.

‚ Accounting for Income Taxes. We record income taxes using the asset and liability method. Deferred
income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to
diÅerences between the Ñnancial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their
respective income tax bases, and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Our Ñnancial statements
contain certain deferred tax assets which have arisen primarily as a result of operating losses incurred in
2001 and 2002 and in the Ñrst three quarters of 2003, as well as other temporary diÅerences between
book and tax accounting. Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, ""Accounting for
Income Taxes,'' requires the establishment of a valuation allowance to reÖect the likelihood of
realization of deferred tax assets. SigniÑcant management judgment is required in determining our
provision for income taxes, our deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded
against our net deferred tax assets. We evaluate all available evidence to determine whether it is more
likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred income tax assets will not be realized. As a result
of operating losses incurred in 2001 and 2002 and in the Ñrst three quarters of 2003, and uncertainty as
to the extent and timing of proÑtability in future periods, we have continued to record a full valuation
allowance, which was approximately $120.7 million as of September 30, 2003. The establishment and
amount of the valuation allowance requires signiÑcant estimates and judgment and can materially
aÅect our results of operations. If the realization of deferred tax assets in the future is considered more
likely than not, an adjustment to the deferred tax assets would increase net income in the period such
determination was made.

‚ Valuation of Long-Lived Assets. In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board State-
ment No. 144, ""Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,'' the carrying value
of intangible assets and other long-lived assets is reviewed on a regular basis for the existence of facts or
circumstances, both internally and externally, that may suggest impairment. Factors we consider
important which could trigger an impairment review include:

‚ signiÑcant underperformance relative to historical or projected future operating results;

‚ signiÑcant negative industry or economic trends;

‚ signiÑcant decline in our stock price for a sustained period; and

‚ our market capitalization relative to net book value.

If such circumstances exist, we evaluate the carrying value of long-lived assets, other than goodwill, to
determine if impairment exists based upon estimated undiscounted future cash Öows over the
remaining useful life of the assets and comparing that value to the carrying value of the assets. If the
carrying value of the asset is greater than the estimated future cash Öows, the asset is written down to
its estimated fair value. In determining expected future cash Öows, assets are grouped at the lowest
level for which cash Öows are identiÑable and independent of cash Öows from other asset groups. We
determined that an impairment test of long-lived assets at June 30, 2002 was necessary due to the
signiÑcant decline in our market capitalization, as determined by our stock price. We determined as a
result of this test that the expected undiscounted cash Öows related to our long-lived asset groups would
not recover the carrying value of the assets over their remaining useful lives. Accordingly, we compared
the carrying amounts of our long-lived assets to their estimated fair values. Fair values were estimated
using methods such as estimated replacement cost and relief from royalty. Based on the analysis at
June 30, 2002, the fair values of certain intangible assets were below their carrying values and an
impairment charge of $5.6 million was recognized in the statement of operations under the caption
""Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets'' for the nine months ended September 30, 2002. The
valuation of long-lived assets requires signiÑcant estimates and assumptions, including fair value
estimates such as estimated replacement cost and relief from royalty. These estimates contain
management's best estimates, using appropriate and customary assumptions and projections at the
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time. If diÅerent estimates, assumptions or projections were used, it is reasonably possible that our
analysis would have generated materially diÅerent results.

In accordance with SFAS 142, ""Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,'' beginning January 1, 2002, we
ceased amortization of goodwill, which was approximately $101.8 million at that time. We performed
an impairment review of our goodwill as of January 1, 2002, under the transitional provisions of
SFAS 142. We identiÑed our reporting units, allocated assets and liabilities to the reporting units and
performed impairment tests on the goodwill associated with each of the reporting units by comparing
the reporting units' book value to their estimated fair value. Assets and liabilities, including goodwill,
were allocated to reporting units based on factors such as speciÑc identiÑcation, percentage of revenue
and headcount. The fair value of the reporting units was estimated considering a market multiple of
revenue approach. During the second quarter of 2002, we completed the transitional impairment test of
goodwill and concluded that no impairment of the goodwill had occurred as of January 1, 2002. By
June 30, 2002, our stock price had declined signiÑcantly from January 1, 2002, at which point our
market capitalization, based on our stock price, was below our book value, and we determined that an
interim goodwill impairment test should be performed. Our stock price at January 2, 2002 was $7.25
per share and declined to $1.06 per share at June 28, 2002. Based on the analysis at June 30, 2002, the
carrying amount of all reporting units exceeded their fair values and a goodwill impairment charge of
$101.8 million, representing 100% of the goodwill balance, was recognized in the statement of
operations under the caption ""Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets'' for the nine months ended
September 30, 2002. The valuation of long-lived assets requires signiÑcant estimates and assumptions,
including fair value estimates of reporting units based on a market multiple of revenue approach. These
estimates contain management's best estimates, using appropriate and customary assumptions and
projections at the time. If diÅerent estimates or adjustments were used, it is reasonably possible that
our analysis would have generated materially diÅerent results.

‚ Restructuring and Other Related Charges. We established exit plans for each of the restructuring
activities which took place in 2001 and 2002 and accounted for these plans in accordance with EITF
Issue No. 94-3, ""Liability Recognition for Certain Employee BeneÑts and Other Costs to Exit an
Activity (including Certain Costs incurred in a Restructuring).'' These exit plans required that we
make estimates as to the nature, timing and amount of the exit costs that we speciÑcally identiÑed. We
speciÑcally identiÑed all employees that were to be terminated and notiÑed them in the quarter the
related restructuring was recorded. The consolidation of facilities required us to make estimates, which
included contractual rental commitments or lease buy-outs for oÇce space being vacated and related
costs, leasehold improvement write-downs, oÅset by estimated sub-lease income. We review on a
regular basis our sub-lease assumptions. These estimates include anticipated rates to be charged to a
sub-tenant and the timing of the sub-lease arrangement. If the rental markets continue to change, our
sub-lease assumptions and space requirements may not be accurate and it is possible that changes in
these estimates could materially aÅect our Ñnancial condition and results of operations. SFAS No. 146,
""Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities,'' is eÅective for exit or disposal
activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002. SFAS 146 requires that a liability for a cost that is
associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized when the liability is incurred. SFAS 146
supersedes the guidance in EITF Issue No. 94-3. Under EITF 94-3, an entity recognized a liability for
an exit cost on the date that the entity committed itself to an exit plan. Under SFAS 146, an entity's
commitment to a plan does not, by itself, create a present obligation to other parties that meets the
deÑnition of a liability. SFAS 146 also establishes that fair value is the objective for the initial
measurement of the liability. SFAS 146 includes a rebuttable presumption that if an entity has a past
practice of providing similar termination beneÑts to employees, the beneÑt arrangement is presumed to
be an ongoing beneÑt arrangement that should be accounted for under SFAS 112, ""Employers'
Accounting for Postemployment BeneÑts.'' SFAS 112 prescribes the accounting for the estimated cost
of beneÑts, including severance beneÑts, provided by an employer to former or inactive employees after
employment but before retirement. A liability is recognized when the severance amounts relate to prior
services rendered, the payment of the amount is probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated.
Since the second quarter of 2003, we have accounted for severance-related restructuring charges in
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accordance with SFAS 112 because we have a history of paying similar severance beneÑts since 2001.
We have not recorded any liability related to other post employment beneÑts, as of September 30,
2003, since the amounts are neither probable nor reasonably estimable.

Our remaining cash lease commitments related to restructured facilities are approximately $68.3 mil-
lion, of which 55% is accrued in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet, and the remaining 45%
relates to sub-lease assumptions. We have entered into signed sub-lease arrangements for approxi-
mately $9.4 million, with the remaining $21.6 million for future estimated sub-lease arrangements. If
the estimated sub-lease dates were to be extended by six months, based on our current estimates, we
would potentially have to recognize an additional $2.1 million in our statement of operations for
restructuring and other related charges.

‚ Contingent Liabilities. We have certain contingent liabilities that arise in the ordinary course of our
business activities. We accrue contingent liabilities when it is probable that future expenditures will be
made and such expenditures can be reasonably estimated. We are subject to various legal claims
totaling approximately $2.5 million and various administrative audits, each of which have arisen in the
ordinary course of our business. We have an accrual at September 30, 2003 of approximately $192,000
related to certain of these items. We intend to defend these matters vigorously, although the ultimate
outcome of these items is uncertain and the potential loss, if any, may be signiÑcantly higher or lower
than the amounts we have previously accrued.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth the percentage of our service revenues of items included in our consolidated
statements of operations:

Three Months Nine Months
Ended Ended

September 30, September 30,

2003 2002 2003 2002

Revenues:

Service revenuesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 100% 100% 100% 100%

Reimbursable expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5 4 5 5

Total gross revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 105 104 105 105

Operating expenses:

Project personnel costs, before reimbursable expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 56 73 61 80

Reimbursable expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5 4 5 5

Total project personnel costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 61 77 66 85

Selling and marketing costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 10 15 10 15

General and administrative costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 31 41 32 48

Restructuring and other related charges (credits) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2 (10) 2 41

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì 82

Amortization of intangible assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1 1 1 3

Stock-based compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1 3 1 2

Total operating expensesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 106 127 112 276

Loss from operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1) (23) (7) (171)

Gain on equity investment change in interestÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì 1

Other income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3 Ì 1 Ì

Interest income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1 2 1 3
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Three Months Nine Months
Ended Ended

September 30, September 30,

2003 2002 2003 2002

Income (loss) before income taxes and net equity loss from
investees ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3 (21) (5) (167)

Income tax provision (beneÑt)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1 0 1 (14)

Income (loss) before net equity loss from investees ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2 (21) (6) (153)

Net equity income (loss) from investees ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì

Income (loss) from continuing operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2 (21) (6) (153)

Loss from discontinued operationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (4) Ì (2)

Net income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2% (25)% (6)% (155)%

Service Revenues

Service revenues for the third quarter of 2003 increased 4% from service revenues for the third quarter of
2002, and increased 1% for the Ñrst three quarters of 2003 from the comparable period in 2002, due to a
modest increase in the demand for our services and an improvement in our billable utilization. We have
experienced modest sequential increases in our service revenues over the Ñrst three quarters of 2003. The
percentage of our service revenues attributable to application management services is also increasing, growing
to 16% of our total service revenues for the third quarter of 2003 compared to 7% for the third quarter of 2002.

For the third quarter of 2003, our Ñve largest clients accounted for approximately 22% of our service
revenues in the aggregate, compared to 24% for the third quarter of 2002. For the Ñrst nine months of 2003,
our Ñve largest clients accounted for approximately 24% of our service revenues in the aggregate, compared to
21% for the same period in 2002. During these periods, no client accounted for more than 10% of revenues.

Project Personnel Costs, Before Reimbursable Expenses

Project personnel costs, before reimbursable expenses, consist principally of salaries and employee
beneÑts for personnel dedicated to client projects and direct expenses incurred to complete projects that were
not reimbursed by the client, and represent the most signiÑcant expense we incur in providing our services.
Project personnel costs, before reimbursable expenses, decreased as a percentage of revenues from 73% and
80% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2002, respectively, to 56% and 61% for the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2003, respectively, due to restructuring and cost-saving actions taken during
2002 and an increase in our billable utilization rate from 60% and 54% for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2002, respectively, to 73% and 72% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2003,
respectively. The absolute decrease in project personnel costs for the Ñrst three quarters of 2003 compared to
the same period in 2002 was due to a decrease in the number of project personnel from 1,248 at September 30,
2002 to 1,157 at September 30, 2003 and our cost cutting actions.

Selling and Marketing Costs

Selling and marketing costs consist principally of salaries, employee beneÑts and travel expenses of selling
and marketing personnel, and promotional costs. Selling and marketing costs decreased as a percentage of
revenues from 15% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2002 to 10% for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2003. This percentage decrease was primarily due to our restructuring and cost-
saving actions taken during 2002. The absolute decrease in selling and marketing costs for the Ñrst three
quarters of 2003 compared to the same period in 2002 was primarily due to a decrease in the number of selling
and marketing personnel from 74 at September 30, 2002 to 47 at September 30, 2003.
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General and Administrative Costs

General and administrative costs relate principally to salaries and employee beneÑts associated with our
management, legal, Ñnance, information technology, recruiting, training and administrative groups, and
depreciation and occupancy expenses. General and administrative costs decreased as a percentage of revenues
from 41% and 48% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2002, respectively, to 31% and 32% for
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2003, respectively, due primarily to restructuring and other
cost-saving actions taken during 2002. The absolute decrease in general and administrative costs for the Ñrst
three quarters of 2003 compared to the same period in 2002 was primarily due to a decrease in the number of
general and administrative personnel, occupancy costs, and depreciation costs related to our restructuring
actions. General and administrative personnel decreased from 288 at September 30, 2002 to 245 at
September 30, 2003. Our total headcount decreased from 1,610 at September 30, 2002 to 1,449 at
September 30, 2003. Total occupancy at September 30, 2003 was approximately 326,000 square feet,
compared to approximately 388,000 square feet at September 30, 2002.

Restructuring and Other Related Charges

As a result of the decline in the demand for advanced technology consulting services that began in the
second half of 2000, we implemented restructurings of our workforce and operations beginning in 2001. In the
third quarter of 2003, we recorded restructuring and other related charges of approximately $0.7 million, due
primarily to decreases in our estimated sub-lease income in connection with the restructuring plans previously
announced.

In connection with the restructuring plan implemented in the second quarter of 2003, we recorded
restructuring and other related charges of approximately $1.4 million. This restructuring action resulted in the
termination of 40 employees. This restructuring action was due to the skill sets of certain employees not
matching our current business requirements and due to a signiÑcant decline in the demand for our services in
our Financial Services business unit through the second quarter of 2003.

In connection with the restructuring plans implemented in 2002, we recorded restructuring and other
related charges of approximately $66.9 million during 2002, of which $54.2 million was recorded in the Ñrst
nine months of 2002. The 2002 restructuring plans resulted in the termination of 863 employees. The
restructuring plans also included discontinuing operations in Japan, closing oÇces in Houston and Denver and
consolidating oÇce space in other cities where we had excess oÇce space. Restructuring charges of $662,000
related to the Company's Japan subsidiary was reported in our loss from discontinued operations for 2002.
Estimated costs for the consolidation of facilities are composed of contractual rental commitments for oÇce
space vacated and related costs, brokerage and related costs to sublet the oÇce space, leasehold improvement
write-downs, oÅset by estimated sub-lease income. The total reduction of oÇce space resulting from these
oÇce closings and consolidations was approximately 391,000 square feet.

These restructuring charges and accruals require signiÑcant estimates and assumptions, including sub-
lease income assumptions. The consolidation of facilities required us to make estimates, which included
contractual rental commitments or lease buy-outs for oÇce space being vacated and related costs, leasehold
improvement write-downs, oÅset by estimated sub-lease income. Our sub-lease assumptions include antici-
pated rates to be charged to a sub-tenant and the timing of the sub-lease arrangement. These estimates and
assumptions are monitored on at least a quarterly basis for changes in circumstances. It is reasonably possible
that such estimates could change in the future, resulting in additional adjustments and these adjustments
could be material.
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Accruals for restructuring and other related activities as of, and for, the nine months ended Septem-
ber 30, 2003 and 2002 were as follows (in thousands):

UtilizedBalance Additional Additional Balance
12/31/02 Charge-Q2 Charge-Q3 Non-Cash Cash 9/30/03

Workforce ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 5,133 $1,612 $(40) $ (16) $ (6,337) $ 352

FacilitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 68,443 (214) 777 (2,003) (21,272) 45,731

$73,576 $1,398 $737 $(2,019) $(27,609) $46,083

Current accrued restructuring costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏ 21,772

Non-current accrued restructuring costsÏÏÏ $24,311

UtilizedBalance Additional Additional Additional Balance
12/31/01 Charge-Q1 Charge-Q2 Charge-Q3 Non-Cash Cash 9/30/02

Workforce ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 1,635 $12,967 $3,100 $ (533) $ Ì $(16,029) $ 1,140

Facilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 51,705 34,981 6,153 (3,736) (2,495) (15,519) 71,089

Depreciable assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 787 525 Ì (1,312) Ì Ì

$53,340 $48,735 $9,778 $(4,269) $(3,807) $(31,548) $72,229

Current accrued restructuring
costsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 29,685

Non-current accrued
restructuring costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $42,544

Amortization of Intangible Assets

For the Ñrst three quarters of 2003, amortization of intangible assets consists primarily of amortization of
marketing assets, customer lists, customer contracts and developed technology resulting from our acquisitions.
The decrease in amortization of intangible assets for the Ñrst three quarters of 2003 relative to the comparable
period from the prior year was primarily related to the impairment charge of $5.6 million recorded in the
second quarter of 2002.

In accordance with the provisions of SFAS 144, ""Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed of,'' we determined that an impairment test of our long-lived
intangible assets was necessary and was performed at June 30, 2002 due to the signiÑcant decline in our
market value. Utilizing the lowest level of identiÑable cash Öows for each long-lived asset group, we
determined that the expected undiscounted cash Öows related to our long-lived asset groups would not recover
the carrying value of the assets over their remaining useful lives. Accordingly, we compared the carrying
amounts of our long-lived assets to their estimated fair values. Fair values were estimated using methods such
as estimated replacement cost and relief from royalty. Based on the analysis at June 30, 2002, the fair values of
certain intangible assets were below their carrying values and an impairment charge of $5.6 million was
recognized in the statement of operations. Estimated amortization expense related to intangible assets is
expected to be $129,000 for the fourth quarter of 2003 and $515,000, $515,000 and $128,000 for the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation consists of expenses for deferred compensation associated with the Human
Code, Inc. (Human Code) and The Launch Group Aktiengesellschaft (TLG) acquisitions and certain grants
of restricted stock that we made in 2002 and 2003. The decrease in stock-based compensation for the Ñrst
three quarters of 2003 relative to the comparable periods in 2002 was primarily due to the reduction of
deferred compensation during 2002 related to stock options and shares of restricted stock forfeited by people
that ceased to be employed by the Company. In connection with the TLG acquisition, in July 2001, we issued
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$10.0 million of restricted common stock to the former TLG employees continuing with the Company, of
which $1.1 million remains in deferred compensation as of September 30, 2003. We expect this charge to be
approximately $267,000 per quarter for the next four quarters, and $60,000 for the Ñnal quarter.

In connection with the acquisition of Human Code, we assumed the outstanding options granted under
the Human Code 1994 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan. The options vest ratably over periods up to four
years. We originally recorded deferred compensation of $11.2 million related to the intrinsic value of the
unvested options, of which $25,000 remains in deferred compensation as of September 30, 2003. The
remaining deferred compensation will be charged to operations at the rate of approximately $9,000 for the next
two quarters, and $7,000 for the Ñnal quarter.

On October 23, 2002, we granted 324,500 shares of restricted common stock to senior oÇcers of the
Company. Four of these senior executive oÇcers have since left the Company and 77,500 shares were forfeited
as a result. The remaining shares vest ratably over a period of four years. The stock-based compensation
charge will be approximately $19,000 per quarter for the next 12 quarters, and $5,000 for the Ñnal quarter. On
March 21, 2003, HWT issued 50,000 restricted shares of its common stock to an executive oÇcer of HWT.
The restricted shares vest ratably over a period of four years. The stock-based compensation charge will be
approximately $3,300 per quarter for the next 14 quarters.

Gain on Equity Investment Change in Interest

In May 2002, our equity ownership percentage in Dream Incubator, Inc. (DI) was diluted from
approximately 17% to approximately 15.7%, as a result of a public oÅering of its common stock by DI. The
dilution was due to the sale by DI of shares to new investors which occurred at a higher share price than we
previously paid. We recorded a $1.8 million gain in the nine months ended September 30, 2002 as a result of
the change in equity interest. In the fourth quarter of 2002, we ceased using the equity method of accounting
for our investment in DI as a result of the dissolution of Sapient KK, which resulted in us unwinding our
strategic partnership with DI and resigning our DI board seat.

Other Income (Expense)

Other income (expense) primarily consists of realized gain and loss from disposition of our investment in
shares of common stock of DI. In the third quarter of 2003, we realized a gain of approximately $1.5 million
and net proceeds of approximately $5.4 million from the sale of shares of common stock we held in DI.

Interest Income

Interest income is derived primarily from investments in U.S. government securities, tax-exempt, short-
term municipal bonds and commercial paper. The decrease in interest income for the Ñrst three quarters of
2003 from the comparable period in 2002 was due to the decrease in the average cash and investment balances
and lower interest rates, oÅset in part by transferring investment balances to higher interest bearing taxable
securities.

Provision (BeneÑt) for Income Taxes

We have deferred tax assets which have arisen primarily as a result of net operating losses in certain
jurisdictions incurred in 2001 and 2002 and the Ñrst three quarters of 2003, as well as other temporary
diÅerences between book and tax accounting. Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109,
""Accounting for Income Taxes,'' requires the establishment of a valuation allowance to reÖect the likelihood
of realization of deferred tax assets. SigniÑcant management judgment is required in determining our provision
for income taxes, our deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded against the net
deferred tax assets. As a result of net operating losses and uncertainty as to the extent and timing of
proÑtability in future periods, we recorded additional valuation allowances of $2.4 million and $4.9 million for
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2003, respectively, resulting in a full valuation allowance of
approximately $120.7 million on deferred tax assets as of September 30, 2003. For the Ñrst three quarters of
2003, we recorded an income tax provision of approximately $930,000 primarily related to foreign and state tax
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obligations. We recorded an income tax beneÑt of approximately $18.8 million for the Ñrst three quarters of
2002, of which $17.2 million related to the enactment of ""The Job Creation and Worker Assistance Act of
2002'' enacted March 9, 2002, which allowed us to carry back our tax net operating loss for U.S. federal
purposes for an additional three years. Our eÅective tax rate may vary from period to period based on changes
in estimated taxable income or loss, changes to the valuation allowance, changes to federal, state or foreign tax
laws, future expansion into areas with varying country, state, and local income tax rates, deductibility of
certain costs and expenses by jurisdiction and as a result of acquisitions.

Net Equity Income (Loss) from Investees

Net equity income from investees for the third quarter of 2002 was approximately $162,000, consisting of
net equity income from Sapient S.p.A. of approximately $57,000 and from DI of approximately $105,000. Net
equity loss from investees for the nine months ended September 30, 2002 was approximately $373,000,
consisting of net equity losses from Sapient S.p.A. of approximately $506,000 and net equity income from DI
of approximately $133,000. Our share of Sapient S.p.A.'s losses for the nine months ended September 30,
2002 included a restructuring charge recorded by Sapient S.p.A. of approximately $401,000.

During the fourth quarter of 2002, our designee on DI's Board of Directors resigned as a Director of DI
and we sold a portion of our DI investment. As a result, we no longer had the ability to signiÑcantly inÖuence
DI and no longer reÖected results of DI operations on the equity method. Also, due to losses incurred by
Sapient S.p.A. since its inception, our investment balance was reduced to zero during the second half of 2002.
On July 2, 2003, we reached an agreement with the management team of Sapient S.p.A., our joint venture in
Milan, Italy, pursuant to which the management team acquired all of the shares of Sapient S.p.A. from the
shareholders of the joint venture. As a result, we no longer hold a 50% ownership interest in the voting shares
of Sapient S.p.A. and the joint venture agreement has been terminated.

Results by Operating Segment

We are engaged in business activities which involve the provision of business and technology consulting
services, primarily on a Ñxed-price basis. We have discrete Ñnancial data by operating segments available
based on our method of internal reporting, which disaggregates our operations on a business unit basis for our
United States operations and on a geographic basis for our international operations. Operating segments are
deÑned as components of the Company concerning which separate Ñnancial information is available that is
evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker. Management uses this information to manage
resources and evaluate performance. Beginning with the fourth quarter of 2003, we have combined our
Automotive and Industrial, Consumer and Transportation and Energy Services business units in the United
States into one business unit called Automotive, Consumer and Energy, and we will report our results by
operating segment accordingly.

We do not allocate certain selling and marketing and general and administrative expenses to our business
unit segments in the United States, as these activities are managed separately from the business units. We did
not allocate the costs associated with the 2002 restructuring plans across our operating segments for internal
measurement purposes, given that the majority of the restructuring costs represented consolidation of
facilities. We did allocate the costs associated with the restructuring activity in the second quarter of 2003
across our operating segments due to the speciÑc identiÑcation of terminated employees to their respective
individual operating segment. We did not allocate the restructuring and other related charges recorded in the
third quarter of 2003 across its operating segments as these charges resulted primarily from changes in
estimated sub-lease income in connection with restructuring plans announced in 2001 and 2002. Asset
information by operating segment is not reported to or reviewed by the chief operating decision maker
therefore we have not disclosed asset information for each operating segment.
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The tables below present the service revenues and operating income (loss) attributable to these operating
segments for the periods presented in the consolidated statements of operations (in thousands).

For the Three Months Ended September 30, 2003 and 2002:

For the Three
Months Ended Financial Public Automotive/ Consumer/ Technology/ United
September 30, 2003  Services Services Industrial Transportation Communications Kingdom Germany Sub-Total

Service
revenues ÏÏÏÏ $4,461 $7,334 $3,986 $1,964 $4,611 $12,392 $3,897 $38,645

Operating
income (loss) $2,292(1) $1,745(1) $1,150(1) $ 549(1) $1,602(1) $ 409 $ 328 $ 8,075(1)

Sub-Total All Reconciling Consolidated
Reportable Segments Other Items Totals

Service revenuesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $38,645 $6,016 $ Ì $44,661

Operating income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 8,075(1) $2,532(1) $(9,293)(2) $ 1,314(2)

For the Three
Months Ended Financial Public Automotive/ Consumer/ Technology/ United
September 30, 2002 Services Services Industrial Transportation Communications Kingdom Germany Sub-Total

Service
revenues ÏÏÏÏ $7,718 $6,549 $3,691 $3,464 $4,560 $ 8,790 $2,796 $37,568

Operating
income (loss) $ 27(1) $ (30)(1) $1,033(1) $ 190(1) $ 52(1) $(1,266) $ (826) $ (820)(1)

Sub-Total All Reconciling Consolidated
Reportable Segments Other Items Totals

Service revenuesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $37,568 $5,474 $ Ì $43,042

Operating income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (820)(1) $2,228(1) $(10,378)(2) $(8,970)(2)

For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2003 and 2002:

For the Nine
Months Ended Financial Public Automotive/ Consumer/ Technology/ United
September 30, 2003 Services Services Industrial Transportation Communications Kingdom Germany Sub-Total

Service
revenuesÏÏÏÏ $13,737 $20,314 $11,332 $7,350 $16,220 $37,969 $10,370 $117,292

Operating
income
(loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 4,756(1) $ 4,749(1) $ 3,562(1) $1,768(1) $ 3,870(1) $(2,557) $ 861 $ 17,009(1)

Sub-Total All Reconciling Consolidated
Reportable Segments Other Items Totals

Service revenuesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $117,292 $15,654 $ Ì $132,946

Operating income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 17,009(1) $ 5,634(1) $(29,169)(2) $ (6,526)(2)

For the Nine
Months Ended Financial Public Automotive/ Consumer/ Technology/ United
September 30, 2002 Services Services Industrial Transportation Communications Kingdom Germany Sub-Total

Service
revenuesÏÏÏÏ $34,170 $15,981 $11,410 $9,491 $10,850 $26,628 $ 8,579 $117,109

Operating
income
(loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 3,531(1) $(3,160)(1) $ 2,262(1) $ 584(1) $(2,258)(1) $(2,614) $(2,868) $ (4,523)(1)
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Sub-Total All Reconciling Consolidated
Reportable Segments Other Items Totals

Service revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $117,109 $14,797 $ Ì $ 131,906

Operating income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (4,523)(1) $ 1,215(1) $(216,759)(2) $(220,067)(2)

(1) The business unit segment operating income (loss) reÖects only the direct controllable expenses of each
business unit segment. For the Company's United States business units, it does not represent the total
operating results for each such business unit, because it does not contain an allocation of certain corporate
and general and administrative expenses incurred in support of the business unit segments.

(2) Represents consolidated income (loss) before income taxes and net equity income (loss) from investees.
Adjustments that are made to the total of the segments' operating income (loss) in order to arrive at
consolidated income (loss) before income taxes and net equity income (loss) from investees include the
following:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2003 2002 2003 2002

Unallocated restructuring and other
related charges ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 737 $(4,269) $ 737 $ 54,244

Impairment of goodwill and
intangible assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì 107,430

Amortization of intangible assets ÏÏÏ 319 598 1,644 3,730

Stock-based compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 332 1,358 1,021 2,697

Other (income) expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,485) 246 (1,289) (1,513)

Interest incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (385) (975) (1,491) (3,388)

Unallocated expensesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9,775(3) 13,420(3) 28,547(3) 53,559(3)

$ 9,293 $10,378 $29,169 $216,759

(3) Includes corporate selling and marketing and general and administrative costs.

Service Revenues by Operating Segments

Consolidated service revenues for the third quarter of 2003 increased 4% from service revenues for the
third quarter of 2002. This was primarily due to increases in our United Kingdom, Germany and Public
Services business units, oÅset by declines in our Financial Services and Consumer and Transportation business
units. Our United Kingdom, Germany and Public Services business units' service revenues for the third
quarter of 2003 increased $3.6 million, $1.1 million and $0.8 million, respectively, from the third quarter of
2002, or 30% in total. These increases were primarily due to increased revenues from large government,
healthcare and energy clients. OÅsetting this increase, our Financial Services business unit's service revenues
decreased 42%, from $7.7 million for the third quarter of 2002 to $4.5 million for the third quarter of 2003, and
our Consumer and Transportation business unit's service revenues decreased 43%, from $3.5 million in the
third quarter of 2002 to $2.0 million in the third quarter of 2003. The economic downturn that occurred in
2001 and 2002 signiÑcantly aÅected our clients in the Ñnancial services industry, and, as a result, many of our
clients in this industry decreased or delayed expenditures for technology consulting services. However, we have
begun to see improvements in technology spending in the Ñnancial services industry in the third quarter of
2003, and we expect service revenues for our Financial Services business unit to increase in the fourth quarter
of 2003.

Consolidated service revenues for the Ñrst three quarters of 2003 increased 1% from service revenues for
the comparable period in 2002. This was primarily due to increases in our United Kingdom and Technology
and Communications business units, partially oÅset by declines in our Financial Services business unit. Our
United Kingdom and Technology and Communications business units' service revenues for the Ñrst three
quarters of 2003 increased $11.3 million and $5.4 million, respectively, from the Ñrst three quarters of 2002, or
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45% in total. OÅsetting this increase, our Financial Services business unit's service revenues declined 60%,
from $34.1 million for the Ñrst three quarters of 2002 to $13.7 million for the Ñrst three quarters of 2003.

Within our business units, we expect that demand for our services in our Financial Services and Germany
business units will improve in the fourth quarter of 2003 and that demand for our services in the Consumer
and Automotive segments of our Automotive, Consumer and Energy business unit will decline slightly in the
fourth quarter of 2003, in each case compared to the third quarter of 2003. We expect that the demand for our
services in our other business units in the fourth quarter of 2003 will not change materially from the levels of
demand in the third quarter of 2003.

Operating Income (Loss) by Operating Segments

Operating income for our reportable segments increased signiÑcantly, to $8.0 million for the third quarter
of 2003 from an operating loss of $0.8 million for the third quarter of 2002. In the third quarter of 2003, all of
our reportable segments had proÑtable operating results. Our Financial Services, Public Services, United
Kingdom, Technology and Communications and Germany business units all demonstrated improvements in
operating results in the third quarter of 2003 as compared to the third quarter of 2002. Operating income for
our reportable segments increased to $17.0 million for the Ñrst three quarters of 2003 from an operating loss of
$4.5 million for the Ñrst three quarters of 2002. This increase was primarily due to our restructuring and cost
cutting actions taken during 2002 and in the second quarter of 2003, and an increase in our billable utilization.

Loss on Discontinued Operations

On October 25, 2002, as a result of the decline in the demand for advanced technology consulting services
in Japan and the resulting declines in Sapient KK's service revenues, we announced that we would discontinue
our Sapient KK operations in Japan. In December 2002, Sapient KK ceased its operating activities and the
Japan oÇce was closed.

In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 144, ""Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,'' which was adopted by the Company on January 1, 2002, the
results of operations of a component of an entity that either has been disposed of or is classiÑed as held for sale
shall be reported in discontinued operations if both of the following conditions are met: (a) the operations and
cash Öows of the component have been (or will be) eliminated from the ongoing operations of the entity as a
result of the disposal transaction; and (b) the entity will not have any signiÑcant continuing involvement in the
operations of the component after the disposal transaction. A component of an entity that will be abandoned
through the liquidation or run-oÅ of operations shall be classiÑed as discontinued operations when operations
cease. SFAS 144 supersedes the accounting and reporting provisions of APB Opinion No. 30 (APB 30),
""Reporting the EÅects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently
Occurring Events and Transactions,'' for the disposal of a segment of a business. SFAS 144 retains the basic
provisions of APB 30 for the presentation of discontinued operations in the statement of operations but
broadens that presentation to include a component of an entity (rather than a segment of a business). A
component of an entity comprises operations and cash Öows that can be clearly distinguished, operationally
and for Ñnancial reporting purposes, from the rest of the entity. Prior to the adoption of SFAS 144 in 2002,
under the rules of APB 30, we would not have classiÑed Japan as discontinued operations.
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Japan's operating results for 2002 have been collapsed and reclassiÑed into a single line item under the
caption ""Loss from discontinued operations.'' The table below presents the carrying amount of Sapient KK's
assets and liabilities, which are included in our consolidated balance sheets at September 30, 2003 and
December 31, 2002 (in thousands):

September 30, December 31,
2003 2002

Assets:
Current assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $Ì $ 447
Other assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 1,061

Total assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 1,508
Liabilities:
Current liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 167

Net assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ Ì $1,341

The table below presents service revenues and pre-tax loss from discontinued operations for the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2002 (in thousands):

Three Months Nine Months
Ended Ended

September 30, 2002 September 30, 2002

Service revenuesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 558 $ 2,197

Pre-tax loss from discontinued operationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(1,855) $(2,932)

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have primarily funded our operations with cash Öows generated from operations from prior years and
the proceeds from our public stock oÅerings. We invest our excess cash predominantly in instruments that are
highly liquid, investment grade securities. At September 30, 2003, we had approximately $157.8 million in
cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and marketable investments, compared to $181.4 million at Decem-
ber 31, 2002.

We have deposited approximately $15.4 million with various banks as collateral for letters of credit and
performance bonds and have classiÑed this cash as restricted on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet
at September 30, 2003. The following summarizes our contractual obligations of non-cancelable operating
leases, excluding restructured properties, for the remainder of 2003 and for each of the years ending
December 31:

(In thousands)

2003 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $2,229

2004 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6,416

2005 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,291

2006 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,155

2007 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,676

Thereafter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9,199

Cash used in operating activities was $32.0 million for Ñrst three quarters of 2003. This resulted primarily
from a net loss of $7.5 million, decreases in accrued restructuring costs of $25.5 million, increases in restricted
cash of $4.7 million, increases in unbilled revenues on contracts of $4.0 million and decreases in deferred
revenues on contracts of $3.2 million, oÅset by net non-cash charges of $8.2 million, decreases in accounts
receivable of $4.5 million and decreases in other assets of $1.5 million. Overall, the use of cash was primarily
due to the market decline for advanced technology services, which resulted in a net loss, and payments related
to our previously recorded restructuring actions. Also, our days sales outstanding (DSO) for accounts
receivable decreased to 72 days for the third quarter of 2003 from 83 days and 79 days for the Ñrst and second
quarters of 2003, respectively. The decrease was primarily due to better than expected collections in the third
quarter of 2003. We expect DSO for the fourth quarter of 2003 to be in the range of 75-80 days, as announced
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in our conference call on October 23, 2003, because our governmental clients continue to be slower payers and
the U.K. revenue has associated value added tax, which is included in the accounts receivable balance but not
included in the revenue balance.

Cash provided by investing activities was $17.9 million for the Ñrst three quarters of 2003. This was due
primarily to maturities of short-term investments (net of purchases) of $13.7 million, proceeds from sale of
investments of $6.9 million, oÅset by investments in consolidated subsidiary of $1.7 million and purchases of
property and equipment of $1.1 million.

Cash used in Ñnancing activities was $1.2 million for the Ñrst three quarters of 2003, as a result of
repurchases of approximately 1.9 million shares of our common stock for $3.4 million under our stock
repurchase program, oÅset by cash provided from the sale of common stock through our employee stock
option and purchase plans of $1.8 million.

The total cash outlay for the restructuring and other related activities implemented through Septem-
ber 30, 2003 is expected to be approximately $145.1 million. The remaining $25.2 million of restructuring and
other related costs consists of non-cash charges primarily for asset write-oÅs and leasehold improvements for
facilities being vacated. As of September 30, 2003, $102.9 million of cash had been used for restructuring and
other related costs, of which $27.6 million had been expended during 2003. The following summarizes our
estimated future restructuring and other related activities' cash outlay for the remainder of 2003 and for each
of the years ending December 31:

(In thousands)

2003 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 5,769

2004 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 17,238

2005 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6,742

2006 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,056

2007 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,898

Thereafter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6,501

We believe that our existing cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and marketable investments will be
suÇcient to meet our working capital, capital expenditure, restructuring and stock repurchase program
requirements for at least the next 12 months.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 46 (FIN 46), ""Consolidation of Variable
Interest Entities.'' FIN 46 requires certain variable interest entities to be consolidated by the primary
beneÑciary of the entity if the equity investors in the entity do not have the characteristics of a controlling
Ñnancial interest or do not have suÇcient equity at risk for the entity to Ñnance its activities without additional
subordinated Ñnancial support from other parties. FIN 46 is required to be applied to preexisting entities of the
Company as of the beginning of the Ñrst quarter after June 15, 2003. FIN 46 is required to be applied to all
new entities with which we become involved beginning February 1, 2003. The adoption of FIN 46 did not have
a signiÑcant impact on the Company. Due to the dissolution of our Italian joint venture, we do not currently
have any variable interest entities.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150 (SFAS 150), ""Accounting for Certain Financial
Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity.'' SFAS 150 requires that certain Ñnancial
instruments that, under previous guidance, could be accounted for as equity be classiÑed as a liability in the
balance sheet. For public companies, the statement is eÅective immediately for Ñnancial instruments entered
into or modiÑed after May 31, 2003 and is otherwise eÅective at the beginning of the Ñrst interim period
beginning after June 15, 2003. The Company adopted SFAS 150 in the third quarter of 2003. The adoption of
SFAS 150 did not have any impact on the Company.
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Risk Factors

The following important factors, among others, could cause our actual business and Ñnancial results to
diÅer materially from those contained in forward-looking statements made in this Quarterly Report or
presented elsewhere by management from time to time.

The demand for business and technology consulting services weakened signiÑcantly in 2001 and 2002, and
demand may remain weak if the current improvement in the economic climate does not continue.

The market for our consulting services and the technologies used in our solutions has changed rapidly
over the last four years. The market for advanced technology consulting services expanded dramatically during
1999 and most of 2000, but declined signiÑcantly in 2001 and 2002. Since the second half of 2000, many
companies have experienced Ñnancial diÇculties or uncertainty, and canceled or delayed spending on
technology initiatives as a result. These companies typically are not demonstrating the same urgency regarding
technology initiatives that existed during the economic expansion that stalled in 2000. This trend worsened for
some companies following the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks in the United States and the accounting
scandals involving Enron, Worldcom and other companies. The economic uncertainty caused by recent
military actions in Iraq further depressed technology spending. Although the economic climate began to show
signs of improvement in the third quarter of 2003, this improvement may not continue for a meaningful period
of time. If the economic climate does not improve signiÑcantly, large companies may continue to cancel or
delay their business and technology consulting initiatives because of the weak economic climate, or for other
reasons, and our business, Ñnancial condition and results of operations would be materially and adversely
aÅected.

Our market is highly competitive and we may not be able to continue to compete eÅectively.

The markets for the services we provide are highly competitive. We believe that we currently compete
principally with large systems consulting and implementation Ñrms and clients' internal information systems
departments. We have begun to compete with oÅshore outsourcing companies, and we expect competition
from these companies to increase in the future, especially on development, application management services
and outsourcing engagements. We compete to a lesser extent with specialized e-business consulting Ñrms,
strategy consulting Ñrms and packaged technology vendors. We compete frequently for client engagements
against companies with far higher revenues and larger numbers of consultants than we have. Recent
consolidations of large consulting companies within our market have further increased the size and resources
of some of these competitors. These competitors are often able to oÅer more scale, which in some instances
has enabled them to signiÑcantly discount their services in exchange for revenues in other areas or at later
dates. Additionally, in an eÅort to maintain market share, many of our competitors are heavily discounting
their services to unproÑtable levels. Some of our competitors have gone out of business. If we cannot keep
pace with the intense competition in our marketplace, our business, Ñnancial condition and results of
operations will suÅer.

Our international operations and Globally Distributed Delivery model subject us to increased risk.

We currently have oÇces in the United Kingdom, Germany, India and Canada. Our international
operations are a signiÑcant percentage of our total revenues, and our Globally Distributed Delivery
(GDD) model is a key component of our ability to successfully deliver our services. International operations
are subject to inherent risks, including:

‚ economic recessions in foreign countries;

‚ Öuctuations in currency exchange rates or impositions of restrictive currency controls;

‚ political instability, war or military conÖict;

‚ changes in regulatory requirements;
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‚ complexities and costs in eÅectively managing multi-national operations and associated internal
controls and procedures;

‚ signiÑcant changes in United States immigration policies or diÇculties in obtaining required immigra-
tion approvals for international assignments;

‚ U.S. imposed restrictions on the import and export of technologies; and

‚ reduced protection for intellectual property in some countries.

In particular, our GDD model depends heavily on our oÇce in New Delhi, India. Any escalation in the
political or military instability in India, Pakistan, Iraq or the surrounding countries could hinder our ability to
successfully utilize GDD, and could result in material adverse eÅects to our business, Ñnancial condition and
results of operations. Furthermore, the delivery of our services from remote locations causes us to rely on data,
phone, power and other networks which are not as reliable as those in other countries where we operate. Any
failures of these systems could aÅect the success of our GDD model. Remote delivery of our services also
increases the complexity and risk of delivering our services, which could aÅect our ability to satisfy our clients'
expectations or perform our services within the estimated time frame and budget for each project.

We have signiÑcant Ñxed operating costs, which may be diÇcult to adjust in response to unanticipated
Öuctuations in revenues.

A high percentage of our operating expenses, particularly personnel, rent and depreciation, are Ñxed in
advance of any particular quarter. As a result, an unanticipated decrease in the number or average size of, or
an unanticipated delay in the scheduling for, our projects may cause signiÑcant variations in operating results
in any particular quarter and could have a material adverse eÅect on operations for that quarter.

An unanticipated termination or decrease in size or scope of a major project, a client's decision not to
proceed with a project we anticipated or the completion during a quarter of several major client projects could
require us to maintain underutilized employees and could have a material adverse eÅect on our business,
Ñnancial condition and results of operations. Our revenues and earnings may also Öuctuate from quarter to
quarter because of such factors as:

‚ the contractual terms and timing of completion of projects, including achievement of certain business
results;

‚ any delays incurred in connection with projects;

‚ the adequacy of provisions for losses and bad debts;

‚ the accuracy of our estimates of resources required to complete ongoing projects;

‚ loss of key highly skilled personnel necessary to complete projects; and

‚ general economic conditions.

We may lose money if we do not accurately estimate the costs of Ñxed-price engagements.

Most of our projects are based on Ñxed-price, Ñxed-time contracts, rather than contracts in which
payment to us is determined on a time and materials basis. Our failure to accurately estimate the resources
required for a project, or our failure to complete our contractual obligations in a manner consistent with the
project plan upon which our Ñxed-price, Ñxed-time contract was based, could adversely aÅect our overall
proÑtability and could have a material adverse eÅect on our business, Ñnancial condition and results of
operations. We have been required to commit unanticipated additional resources to complete projects in the
past, which has resulted in losses on those contracts. We will likely experience similar situations in the future.
In addition, we may Ñx the price for some projects at an early stage of the process, which could result in a Ñxed
price that turns out to be too low and, therefore, could adversely aÅect our business, Ñnancial condition and
results of operations.
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Our clients could unexpectedly terminate their contracts for our services.

Some of our contracts can be canceled by the client with limited advance notice and without signiÑcant
penalty. Termination by any client of a contract for our services could result in a loss of expected revenues and
additional expenses for staÅ which were allocated to that client's project. We could be required to maintain
underutilized employees who were assigned to the terminated contract. The unexpected cancellation or
signiÑcant reduction in the scope of any of our large projects could have a material adverse eÅect on our
business, Ñnancial condition and results of operations.

We may be liable to our clients for damages caused by our services or by our failure to remedy system
failures.

Many of our projects involve technology applications or systems that are critical to the operations of our
clients' businesses and handle very large volumes of transactions. If we fail to perform our services correctly,
we may be unable to deliver applications or systems to our clients with the promised functionality or within the
promised time frame, or to satisfy the required service levels for support and maintenance. While we have
taken precautionary actions to create redundancy and back-up systems, any such failures by us could result in
claims by our clients for substantial damages against us. Although we attempt to limit the amount and type of
our contractual liability for defects in the applications or systems we provide, and carry insurance coverage
which mitigates this liability in certain instances, we cannot be assured that these limitations and insurance
coverages will be applicable and enforceable in all cases. Even if these limitations and insurance coverages are
found to be applicable and enforceable, our liability to our clients for these types of claims could be material in
amount and aÅect our business, Ñnancial condition and results of operations.

We have begun to put a portion of our fees at risk based on project results and may not earn these fees if
we do not succeed.

Our business model focuses heavily on delivering measurable business results for our clients, and
increasingly we are aligning our interests with our client's interests by putting a portion of our fees at risk,
dependent on our client's attainment of the business value we promised. Through the Ñrst nine months of
2003, we have recognized $847,000 of revenue by achieving previously agreed measurable business results.
Our inability to deliver the business value that we have promised on a project could materially aÅect the
proÑtability of that project, because we typically will incur the same level of project costs regardless of whether
the promised business value is attained. We could also experience delays in revenue recognition or payment
because the measurement of business value is often complex and may involve a veriÑcation process between us
and our client. As a result, our failure to deliver the business value that we promise to our clients could
materially aÅect our business, Ñnancial condition and results of operations.

If we do not attract and retain qualiÑed professional staÅ, we may not be able to adequately perform our
client engagements and could be limited in accepting new client engagements.

Our business is labor intensive, and our success depends upon our ability to attract, retain, train and
motivate highly skilled employees. Although we reduced our work force and slowed our hiring eÅorts
beginning in 2001, and many specialized e-business and other business and technology companies did the
same during this period, intense competition exists for certain employees who have specialized skills or
signiÑcant experience in business and technology consulting. The modest improvement in demand for business
and technology consulting services that began in the third quarter of 2003 has also increased the need for
highly skilled employees. We may not be successful in attracting a suÇcient number of these highly skilled
employees. Furthermore, the industry turnover rates for these types of employees is high, and we may not be
successful in retaining, training and motivating the employees we are able to attract. Our rate of voluntary
turnover decreased slightly to 23% in the third quarter of 2003 from 24% in the second quarter of 2003, which
is still above our targeted level of 15% or below, due to employees attending school, employees changing
careers and increased travel requirements. Any inability to attract, retain, train and motivate employees could
impair our ability to adequately manage and complete existing projects and to bid for or accept new client
engagements. We must also devote substantial managerial and Ñnancial resources to monitoring and managing
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our workforce and other resources. Our future success will depend on our ability to manage the levels and
related costs of our workforce and other resources eÅectively. Almost all of our employees participate in one or
more of our stock option plans as a component of long-term incentive compensation, and some of the stock
options held by current employees have exercise prices that signiÑcantly exceed the recent trading range of our
common stock. A future prolonged decline or low stock price could result in reduced incentives for employees
and in increased turnover.

Businesses may decrease or delay their use of advanced technologies as a means for conducting commerce.

Our future success depends heavily on the acceptance and use of advanced technologies as a means for
conducting commerce and streamlining operations. We focus our services on the development and implemen-
tation of advanced technology strategies and solutions. If use of these advanced technologies does not grow, or
grows more slowly than expected, our revenues could be less than we anticipate and our business, Ñnancial
condition and results of operations could be materially adversely aÅected. Consumers and businesses may
delay adoption of advanced technologies for a number of reasons, including:

‚ inability to implement and sustain proÑtable business models using advanced technologies;

‚ inadequate network infrastructure or bandwidth;

‚ delays in the development or adoption of new technical standards and protocols required to handle
increased levels of usage;

‚ adoption of new laws and regulations applicable to new technologies and electronic commerce by
federal, state or international governments that hinder the growth of new technologies;

‚ delays in the development of security and authentication technology necessary to eÅect secure
transmission of conÑdential information; and

‚ failure of companies to meet their customers' expectations in delivering goods and services using
advanced technologies.

Our stock price is volatile and may result in substantial losses for investors.

The trading price of our common stock has been subject to wide Öuctuations. Our trading price could
continue to be subject to wide Öuctuations in response to:

‚ quarterly variations in operating results and achievement of key business metrics by us or our
competitors;

‚ changes in operating results estimates by securities analysts;

‚ any diÅerences between our reported results and securities analysts' published or unpublished
expectations;

‚ announcements of new contracts or service oÅerings made by us or our competitors;

‚ announcements of acquisitions or joint ventures made by us or our competitors; and

‚ general economic or stock market conditions.

In the past, securities class action litigation has often been instituted against companies following periods
of volatility in the market price of their securities. The commencement of this type of litigation against us
could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management attention and resources.

Relatively small adjustments to our reported Ñnancial results could result in a restatement or public
disclosure because our operating results are currently near break-even.

In the third quarter of 2003, we had an operating loss of $0.6 million and net income of $1.0 million. For
the fourth quarter of 2003, we also expect our operating results and net income or loss to be close to break-
even. As a result, relatively small adjustments, while modest in absolute amount, discovered after reporting
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our Ñnancial results could be deemed to be ""material'' in the near term, because such adjustments may
constitute a signiÑcant percentage of our results from operations or net income or loss since we are very close
to break-even. Any adjustments that are deemed to be material for this reason would likely require us to
restate our Ñnancial results for the periods aÅected, which could cause Öuctuations in our stock price.

We may be unable to protect our proprietary methodology.

Our success depends, in part, upon our proprietary methodology and other intellectual property rights.
We rely upon a combination of trade secrets, nondisclosure and other contractual arrangements, and copyright
and trademark laws to protect our proprietary rights. We enter into conÑdentiality agreements with our
employees, subcontractors, vendors, consultants and clients, and limit access to and distribution of our
proprietary information. We cannot be certain that the steps we take in this regard will be adequate to deter
misappropriation of our proprietary information or that we will be able to detect unauthorized use and take
appropriate steps to enforce our intellectual property rights. In addition, although we believe that our services
and products do not infringe on the intellectual property rights of others, infringement claims may be asserted
against us in the future, and, if asserted, these claims may be successful. A successful claim against us could
materially adversely aÅect our business, Ñnancial condition and results of operations.

Our co-Chairmen and co-CEOs have signiÑcant voting power and may eÅectively control the outcome of
any stockholder vote.

Jerry A. Greenberg and J. Stuart Moore, our Co-Chairmen of the Board of Directors and Co-Chief
Executive OÇcers, own approximately 34.2% of our common stock in the aggregate. As a result, they have the
ability to substantially inÖuence, and may eÅectively control the outcome of corporate actions requiring
stockholder approval, including the election of Directors. This concentration of ownership may also have the
eÅect of delaying or preventing a change in control of Sapient, even if such a change in control would beneÑt
other investors.

We are dependent on our key employees.

Our success will depend in large part upon the continued services of a number of key employees,
including Messrs. Greenberg and Moore. Our employment arrangements with Messrs. Greenberg and Moore
and with our other key personnel provide that employment is terminable at will by either party. The loss of the
services of any of our key personnel could have a material adverse eÅect on our business, Ñnancial condition
and results of operations. In addition, if our key employees resign from Sapient to join a competitor or to form
a competing company, the loss of such personnel and any resulting loss of existing or potential clients to any
such competitor could have a material adverse eÅect on our business, Ñnancial condition and results of
operations. Although we require our employees to sign agreements prohibiting them from joining a
competitor, forming a competing company or soliciting our clients or employees for certain periods of time, we
cannot be certain that these agreements will be eÅective in preventing our key employees from engaging in
these actions or that courts or other adjudicative entities will substantially enforce these agreements.
Furthermore, for those employees whom we involuntarily terminated in connection with our restructuring
actions, we have waived the non-competition clause of their agreements in exchange for releases of claims. We
granted these waivers only in connection with the restructuring actions, and our general practice is not to waive
the non-competition obligations of other departing employees.

Our corporate governance provisions may deter a Ñnancially attractive takeover attempt.

Provisions of our charter and by-laws may discourage, delay or prevent a merger or acquisition that
stockholders may consider favorable, including a transaction in which stockholders would receive a premium
for their shares. These provisions include the following:

‚ our Board of Directors is staggered into three classes and the members may be removed only for cause
upon the aÇrmative vote of holders of at least two-thirds of the shares entitled to vote;
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‚ our Board of Directors has the authority, without further action by the stockholders, to Ñx the rights
and preferences of and issue shares of preferred stock;

‚ any action that may be taken by stockholders must be taken at an annual or special meeting and may
not be taken by written consent;

‚ stockholders must comply with advance notice requirements before raising a matter at a meeting of
stockholders or nominating a director for election; and

‚ a Chairman of the Board or a Chief Executive OÇcer are the only persons who may call a special
meeting of stockholders.

Provisions of Delaware law may also discourage, delay or prevent someone from acquiring us or merging
with us.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We do not believe that we have any material market risk exposure with respect to derivative or other
Ñnancial instruments. At September 30, 2003, our exposure to market risk relates primarily to changes in
interest rates on our investment portfolio. Our marketable investments consist primarily of Ñxed income
securities. We invest only with high credit quality issuers and we do not use derivative Ñnancial instruments in
our investment portfolio. We do not believe that a signiÑcant increase or decrease in interest rates would have
a material adverse impact on the fair value of our investment portfolio.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures, which we have designed to ensure that material
information related to the Company, including our consolidated subsidiaries, is properly identiÑed and
evaluated on a regular basis and disclosed in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations. We have
established a disclosure committee which consists of certain members of our senior management. The
disclosure committee carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our Co-
Chief Executive OÇcers, Mr. Greenberg and Mr. Moore, and Chief Financial OÇcer, Ms. Johnson, of the
eÅectiveness of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this
Quarterly Report. Based on that evaluation, Mr. Greenberg, Mr. Moore and Ms. Johnson concluded that the
Company's disclosure controls and procedures are eÅective in causing material information to be collected,
communicated and analyzed on a timely basis and in ensuring that such information is disclosed in accordance
with all applicable laws and regulations, except for the controls and procedures related to interest income.
Subsequent to the end of the third quarter of 2003, the Company discovered that adjustments to interest
income were required in the Ñrst two quarters of 2003, because it inadvertently did not amortize premiums
paid for some of the bonds in its portfolio. As a result, for the Ñrst two quarters of 2003, the Company has
restated its Ñnancial results by decreasing interest income by $337,000 in the Ñrst quarter, and by $188,000 in
the second quarter.

Changes in Controls and Procedures

Our management, including our Co-Chief Executive OÇcers and our Chief Financial OÇcer, evaluated
any changes in the Company's internal controls over Ñnancial reporting that occurred during the period
covered by this Quarterly Report. Based on that evaluation, no changes occurred during the period covered by
this Quarterly Report that materially aÅected, or were reasonably likely to materially aÅect, the Company's
internal control over Ñnancial reporting. Subsequent to the end of the third quarter of 2003, the Company
adopted additional controls and procedures related to interest income, which include reporting of bond
premium amortization by all investment managers and periodic testing of such amortization by the Company.
The Company believes that the control issues related to the restatement described above have been corrected.
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PART II

OTHER INFORMATION

Item 6. Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K

(a) Exhibits

31.1 CertiÑcation of Jerry A. Greenberg pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 CertiÑcation of J. Stuart Moore pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.3 CertiÑcation of Susan D. Johnson pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 CertiÑcation of Jerry A. Greenberg, J. Stuart Moore and Susan D. Johnson pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

(b) Reports on Form 8-K

On July 25, 2003, the Company furnished a Current Report on Form 8-K regarding the press release
announcing the Company's preliminary Ñnancial results for the three months ended June 30, 2003.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

SAPIENT CORPORATION

Signature Title Date

/s/ JERRY A. GREENBERG Co-Chief Executive OÇcer November 13, 2003

Jerry A. Greenberg

/s/ SUSAN D. JOHNSON Co-Chairman of the Board November 13, 2003
Chief Financial OÇcerSusan D. Johnson

/s/ BRADLEY T. MILLER Chief Accounting OÇcer November 13, 2003

Bradley T. Miller
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